

# WORKING PAPER SERIES NO. 432 / JANUARY 2005

ECB-CFS RESEARCH NETWORK ON CAPITAL MARKETS AND FINANCIAL INTEGRATION IN EUROPE

# TRADING EUROPEAN SOVEREIGN BONDS

THE MICROSTRUCTURE OF THE MTS TRADING PLATFORMS

by Yiu Chung Cheung, Frank de Jong and Barbara Rindi



# WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO. 432 / JANUARY 2005

ECB-CFS RESEARCH NETWORK ON CAPITAL MARKETS AND FINANCIAL INTEGRATION IN EUROPE

# TRADING EUROPEAN SOVEREIGN BONDS

# THE MICROSTRUCTURE OF THE MTS TRADING PLATFORMS '

by Yiu Chung Cheung<sup>2</sup>, Frank de Jong<sup>3</sup> and Barbara Rindi<sup>4</sup>

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract\_id=647944.







publications will feature a motif taken from the €50 banknote.



I We thank Simon Benninga, Andrew Ellul, Cynthia van Hulle, Bert Menkveld, Avi Wohl and other seminar participants at Bocconi, Warwick University, Toulouse, Tel Aviv university, the Hebrew University, the European Central Bank, EFA 2003, INQUIRE Meeting in Barcelona and the Bank of Athens for their useful comments. We thank Luca Camporese, Alessandro Pasin and Stefano Rivellini for precious research assistance and Aart Groenendijk from MTS Amsterdam. We acknowledge financial support from

INQUIRE Europe, and thank MTS Spa for providing the data. All remaining errors are ours. 2 University of Amsterdam, Department of Financial Management, Roetersstraat 11, 1018 WB Amsterdam, Netherlands;

e-mail: yccheung@fee.uva.nl 3 University of Amsterdam, Department of Financial Management, Roetersstraat 11, 1018 WB Amsterdam, Netherlands;

e-mail: fdejong@uva.nl 4 Bocconi University, Department of Economics, Via Sarfatti 25, 20136 Milan, Italy; e-mail: barbara.rindi@uni-bocconi.it

#### ECB-CFS Research Network on "Capital Markets and Financial Integration in Europe"

This paper is part of the research conducted under the ECB-CFS Research Network on "Capital Markets and Financial Integration in Europe". The Network aims at stimulating top-level and policy-relevant research, significantly contributing to the understanding of the current and future structure and integration of the financial system in Europe and its international linkages with the United States and Japan. After two years of work, the ECB Working Paper Series is issuing a selection of papers from the Network. This selection is covering the priority areas "European bond markets", "European securities settlement systems", "Bank competition and the geographical scope of banking activities", "international portfolio choices and asset market linkages" and "start-up financing markets". It also covers papers addressing the impact of the euro on financing structures and the cost of capital.

The Network brings together researchers from academia and from policy institutions. It has been guided by a Steering Committee composed of Franklin Allen (University of Pennsylvania), Giancarlo Corsetti (European University Institute), Jean-Pierre Danthine (University of Lausanne), Vítor Gaspar (ECB), Philipp Hartmann (ECB), Jan Pieter Krahnen (Center for Financial Studies), Marco Pagano (University of Napoli "Federico II") and Axel Weber (CFS). Mario Roberto Billi, Bernd Kaltenhäuser (both CFS), Simone Manganelli and Cyril Monnet (both ECB) supported the Steering Committee in its work. Jutta Heeg (CFS) and Sabine Wiedemann (ECB) provided administrative assistance in collaboration with staff of National Central Banks acting as hosts of Network events. Further information about the Network can be found at http://www.eu-financial-system.org.

The joint ECB-CFS Research Network on "Capital Markets and Financial Integration in Europe" aims at promoting high quality research. The Network as such does not express any views, nor takes any positions. Therefore any opinions expressed in documents made available through the Network (including its web site) or during its workshops and conferences are the respective authors' own and do not necessarily reflect views of the ECB, the Eurosystem or CFS.

#### © European Central Bank, 2005

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postal address Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

**Telephone** +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

**Fax** +49 69 1344 6000

**Telex** 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Reproduction for educational and noncommercial purposes is permitted provided that the source is acknowledged.

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

# CONTENTS

	At	Abstract				
	Non-technical summary					
	1	Introduction and motivation	7			
	2	Description of the European bond market				
		and the dataset	9			
		2.1 Primary market	9			
		2.2 Secondary market: The MTS system	Ш			
		2.3 Dataset	14			
	3	Liquidity on the MTS market	15			
	4	The price impact of trading in interdealer				
		markets	17			
		4.1 Interdealer trading: an overview	18			
		4.2 The impact of trading intensity on prices	21			
		4.3 Empirical results	22			
		4.3.1 Return equation	22			
		4.3.2 Quantity equation	23			
	4.4 The impact of news announcements					
		4.5 Impulse response functions	26			
	5	Conclusions	27			
	<ul><li>A Econometric details</li><li>B Impulse response functions</li></ul>					
	ferences	32				
Tables and graphs						
	Eu	ropean Central Bank working paper series	<b>46</b>			

2

### Abstract

We study the microstructure of the MTS Global Market bond trading system, which is the largest interdealer trading system for Eurozone government bonds. Using a unique new dataset we find that quoted and effective spreads are related to maturity and trading intensity. Securities can be traded on a domestic and EuroMTS platform. We show that despite the apparent fragmentation of trading, both platforms are closely connected in terms of liquidity. We also study the intraday price-order flow relation in the Euro bond market. We estimate the price impact of order flow and control for the intraday trading intensity and the announcement of macroeconomic news. The regression results show a larger impact of order flows during announcement days and a higher price impact of trading after a longer period of inactivity. We relate these findings to interdealer trading and to the structure of European bond markets.

Keywords: Bonds markets, Microstructure, Order flow

JEL classification: F31, C32

## Non-technical summary

In this paper we study the microstructure of the MTS Global Market bond trading system using a new and unique dataset consisting of detailed transaction data provided by the MTS group. This interdealer trading system is fully automated and effectively works as an electronic limit order market. The structure of the MTS trading platforms are very similar to the EBS and D2002 electronic trading system for the foreign exchange market, but different from the quote screen-based US Treasury bond trading system. The European bond market has also a much richer menu of bonds than the US market. Although the European capital market has integrated considerably in the last 5 years, mainly through the introduction of a single currency, European bonds can still differ in their credit rating. This varies from "AA2" for Italy to "AAA" for Austrian, Dutch, French and German bonds.

An interesting feature of the MTS trading platform is its organizational setup. Fixed income securities can be traded on a domestic platform (like MTS France, MTS Germany and MTS Italy) but also on a general platform called the EuroMTS. Local system provides trading opportunities for trading "off-the-run" and "on-the run" securities as long as some liquidity restrictions are fulfilled. On the other hand, the EuroMTS platform offers trading in only "on-the-run" securities. In other words, the range of securities being traded on the domestic platform is much larger compared to EuroMTS. A bond trader on the domestic trading platform can therefore offer a much wider range of bonds to its clients making the EuroMTS platform redundant. We therefore ask ourselves:

# Are there any differences in trading costs between the EuroMTS and the domestic MTS trading platforms?

Throughout the paper, we provide a comparison of the trading costs and price dynamics on these platforms. We calculate comparative measures of trading costs like the quoted and effective spread. We show that despite the apparent fragmentation of trading on domestic platforms and EuroMTS, the markets are closely connected in terms of liquidity.

Another interesting feature of the MTS Global Market system is its pure interdealer characteristic. This allows us to study the price and order flow dynamics under competitive market making. The data also provides a detailed time stamp, which allows us to take trading intensity into account. In particular, we ask ourselves:

## Are interdealer trades better absorbed by dealers under high or low trading intensity?

From the informational point of view, one can argue that a higher trading intensity will lure informed traders. These market conditions provides an opportunity for the informed traders to trade as much and as fast as possible without being detected. Hence, an unexpected trade in a period of high trading intensity will have a larger impact on the price. On the other hand, one can argue that a low trading intensity makes it more difficult for dealers to control their inventory. Hence, dealers are more reluctant to trade when trading intensity is low and an unexpected trade during quiet periods have a larger impact on prices. To answer this question, a careful analysis of the price process is needed. Moreover, literature suggests that the impact of order flow on the price process during announcement days is much higher compared to days without news announcements. We apply a simultaneous modelling of price and order flow dynamics by taking trading intensity and news announcements into account.

Our empirical analysis is conducted for the running 10-year government bonds of Germany, France, Italy and Belgium. We estimate the model using the full dataset and by separating the dataset into days with and without macroeconomic news announcements. We find that order flows are strongly correlated but the correlation gradually decreases over time. We also find that the impact of order flows is larger during announcement days. This supports the findings of the US bond market. However, when we take intraday trading intensity into account, we find that the impact of a trade in a relative low trading intensive environment has a larger impact on price than in a relative high trading intensive environment. These findings contrast the findings for stock markets and we try to relate these findings to interdealer trading and the special structure of fixed income markets.

# 1 Introduction and Motivation

In recent years, the empirical work on the microstructure of financial markets has received considerable attention in the academic literature. Most of the substantial empirical work in this area pertains to stock markets. Given the emphasis on stock markets in the theory and the availability of data, this is understandable. On the other hand, in terms of both capitalization and trading volume, foreign exchange and bond markets are bigger than stock markets. Research on foreign exchange and bond markets is also interesting because of their special structure. Both markets are centered around a large number of professional dealers. Outside customers trade with the dealer of their choice. Volume is high, and there is a lot of interdealer trading. The interdealer trading is even bigger than the trading with outsiders. Lyons (2002) estimates that about 2/3 of the FX trading is interdealer. Due to its obvious importance, empirical research on the microstructure of bond markets has increased in recent years<sup>1</sup>. In this paper we study the microstructure of the MTS Global Market system, which is the most important European interdealer fixed income trading system. This system is composed of a number of trading platforms on which designated bonds can be traded. The trading system is fully automated and effectively works as an electronic limit order market. The structure of the MTS trading platforms are very similar to the EBS and D2002 electronic trading system for the foreign exchange market, but different from the quote screenbased US Treasury bond trading system. The European bond market has also a much richer menu of bonds than the US market. Although the European capital market has integrated considerably in the last 10 years, mainly through the introduction of a single currency, European bonds can still differ in their credit rating. This varies from AA2 for Italy to AAA for Austrian, Dutch, French and German bonds<sup>2</sup>. There are a few interesting features of this trading platform.

The first interesting feature of the MTS trading platform is its organizational setup. Fixed income securities can be traded on a domestic and a European (or EuroMTS) platform. The range of securities being traded on the domestic platform is however much larger than on the EuroMTS trading platform<sup>3</sup>. A bond trader on the domestic trading platform can therefore offer a much wider range of bonds to its clients. Throughout the paper, we provide a comparison of the trading costs and price dynamics on the domestic MTS markets and the EuroMTS by calculating comparative measures of liquidity, such as quoted and effective spreads. We show that despite the apparent fragmentation of trading on domestic platforms and EuroMTS, the markets are closely connected in terms of liquidity.

The second interesting feature of the MTS Global Market system is its interdealer characteristic.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For example, Umlauf (1993), Fleming and Remolona (1997, 1999), Fleming (2001) Cohen and Shin (2003) and Goldreich, Hanke and Nath (2003) for the US Treasury market. Proudman (1995) for the UK bond markets, Albanesi and Rindi (2000) and Massa and Simonov (2001a,b) for the Italian market.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Based on Moody's credit rating.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>As an example, MTS France offers trading in a large range of French debt securities including the benchmarks and highly liquid issues. On the other hand, EuroMTS only offers a smaller range of French debt issues.

This allows us to study the price and order flow dynamics under competitive market making. There is a small but important collection of papers studying interdealer trading behavior. Ho and Stoll (1983) were the first to discuss the role of competition between market makers. They argue that market makers with the most extreme inventory will execute all the trades by quoting the most competitive prices. Biais' (1993) theoretical model supports the findings of Ho and Stoll. In addition, he shows that the number of suppliers of liquidity depends on the volatility of the security and the trading activity in the market. Lyons (1997) analyzed the impact of a repeated passing of inventory among dealers. He calls this phenomenon hot potato trading and shows that the passing of inventory creates additional noise in the order flow. There is also empirical evidence documenting the passing of inventory among dealers. Manaster and Mann (1996) find that CME futures floor traders manage their inventory daily and that the most active sellers have the largest long position. Reiss and Werner (1998) and Hansch, Naik and Viswanathan (1998) studied the role of inventory among market makers on the London Stock Exchange. They find an important role for inventory control as most of these trades are used to reverse positions. In addition, the mean reversion component of inventory changes over time and is stronger compared to the traditional specialist markets as analyzed by e.g. Madhavan and Schmidt (1993).

Interestingly, these papers do not analyze the impact of these trades on price dynamics. In particular, they do not ask under which circumstances (i.e. busy or quiet markets) these interdealer trades are better absorbed by market makers. The literature suggests that the impact of order flow on the price process during announcement days is much higher compared to days without news announcements. To answer this question, a careful analysis of the price process is needed which in turn requires the simultaneous modelling of price and order flow dynamics by taking trading intensity and the announcement of news into account. This is the main objective of the paper. The investigation of trading surrounding economic announcements in fixed income markets has been analyzed by Fleming and Remolona (1999) and Balduzzi, Elton and Green (2001). These papers find that the largest price movements arises during announcement days. Green (2004) documented a lower adverse selection component before the announcement which is a consequence of no-information leakage. After the announcement however, the adverse selection component starts to increase because dealers absorbing a large portions of order flow may have superior information about short term price directions. This informational advantage will result in a dispersion of information among dealers and an increase in information asymmetry in the market. This rationale is fully consistent with the order flow information models by Lyons and Cao (1999), Fleming (2001) and Lyons (2001). Green (2004) also finds that prices are more sensitive to order flow in a period of increased liquidity after a scheduled announcement. Cohen and Shin (2003) also conducted a comparable analysis for the US treasury market. By dividing their dataset into days with and without announcements, they find that the effect of trades on return is higher on busy (announcement) days compared to days with relative low trading intensity. In contrast to Green (2004) and Cohen and Shin (2003), we include intraday trading intensity in our analysis. We find

that order flows are strongly correlated but the correlation gradually decreases over time. We also find that the impact of order flows is larger during announcement days. This supports the findings of Cohen and Shin (2003) and Green (2004) for the US fixed income market. However, when taking intraday trading intensity into account, we find that the impact of a trade in a relative low trading intensive environment has a larger impact on price than in a relative high trading intensive environment. This finding contrast the findings of Dufour and Engle (2000) and Spierdijk (2002) for stock markets.

The setup of this paper is as follows. Section 2 starts with a description of the European Bond market, the MTS trading platform and our dataset. Section 3 focuses on the study of liquidity, measured by quoted and effective bid-ask spreads. Sections 4 analyzes the impact of order flows and trading intensity on the price discovery of the domestic and EuroMTS market in some important 10-year benchmark bonds. We estimate the model (i) using the full dataset and (ii) separating the dataset into days with and without macroeconomic news announcements. Section 5 concludes the paper.

# 2 Description of the European Bond Market and the Dataset

This section gives a short description of the organization of the European market for sovereign bonds. The institutional environment of this market can broadly be divided into 2 sectors. The primary sector decides upon the finance policy based upon the funding requirement of each government. The operational activities for the implementation of these strategies is carried out by various treasury agents like the Bundesbank for German securities, the French Tresor for French securities and the Italian Treasury for Italian debt instruments. The secondary market decides upon the trading environment. In particular, it determines the structure of payments and settlements and the trading facilities offered by brokers and market makers. Both sectors influence the price dynamics through supply and demand, where the primary sector acts as the ultimate provider of liquidity. It is therefore useful to give a description of the Eurozone government bond market based on these two sectors.

### 2.1 Primary Market

In a broad sense, the government bond market can be seen as the market for debt instruments with a maturity running from 2 years up to 30 years. Although later we will focus on bonds with a 10-year maturity, there is also a very active market for debt instruments with a maturity smaller than 2 years. Here, the primary sector is special as it acts as the ultimate provider of liquidity in a given government security. In the Eurozone money market, the European Central Bank is the ultimate supplier of monetary liquidity in the Eurozone. In contrast, every member of the Eurozone can decide its own financing operations and its supply of debt instruments. Hence, the Eurozone bond market is heterogeneous compared to the Eurozone money market.<sup>4</sup> Table 1 shows the size of outstanding medium and long term debt which differs considerably across countries. Despite the differences in issue size, governments choose to finance their needs using debt paper with almost similar maturities.

We now describe the bond market for German and Italian debt securities in more detail. We pick these two markets as both markets are highly liquid while having different credit ratings. The German securities are rated 'AAA' while the Italian securities are rated with the 'AA2' status .

**Germany** The German market is the second largest bond market in the Eurozone and the fourth largest market in the world, smaller only to the United States, Japan and Italy. The government bond market has been given a strong boost since the unification of the two German states as East Germany required large financing to modernize its infrastructure.

The issues of public authorities can be categorized in a few groups from which the highly liquid Federal government bullet bonds are the most important ones<sup>5</sup>. In turn, the federal bonds are categorized depending on their maturity. The most popular instruments are the long-term government bonds (*Bundesanleihen or Bunds*) which have a maturity between 8 and 30 years, with the 10 year bonds being the most popular. In addition to Bunds, the federal government issues medium term notes which gained popularity since the beginning of the 1990's when foreigners were allowed to purchase these notes. These medium term notes (*Bundesobligationen or BOBL*) have a maturity of 5 years. In order to differ between the well known 5 or 10-year bonds, the German authorities introduced short term notes (*Bundesschätzanweisungen or Schätze*) in 1991 with a maturity of 2 years.

Only the Bundesbank is authorized to issue federal bonds and it publishes a calendar with the date, type and planned issue size for the next quarter. Federal bonds are issued on Wednesday using tendering where some 80% of the whole issuance is sold. The remaining 20% is set aside for market management operations and intervention. Only members of the "Bund Issuance Auction Group" are entitled to participate directly during the auction. The participants have to quote in percentages of the par value in multiples of 1 million euro with a minimum of 1 million euro. The Bundesbank expects members to submit successful bids for at least 0.05% of the total issuance in one calendar year. There are two ways in which a bond is auctioned. The first is through an American auction, a competitive bidding schedule in which the participants announce the quantity and price that they are willing to pay for the security taking a minimum price into account. The participant with the highest price will be met first followed by the second highest price, and so forth. The second method is through a Dutch auction, a non-competitive bid in which the Bundesbank determines one price through the bidding schedule of the participants.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Hartmann et al. (2001) provide an excellent overview of the EU money market.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Other bonds are for example Länder bonds and unity bonds

**Italy** The Italian market remains one of the largest bond market in the world <sup>6</sup>. By now, the Italian market is by far the largest European Bond market due to its large deficit in the government budget. Since its approval of the Maastricht duty in 1991 however, the Italian government tightened its economic and monetary policy to pursue an economic environment of stable prices and solid public finances. This has its influence on the performance of Italian securities. We can see this in Figure 1 where the spread between the 10 year benchmark bonds of Italy is plotted against its German equivalent<sup>7</sup>.

The most important medium and long term bond issued by the Italian treasury are BTPs (*Buoni del Tesoro Poliennali*). These are bullet bonds with a maturity of 3, 5, 7, 10 or 30 years with coupons paid on a semi-annual basis. The vast majority of bonds in the Eurozone market are bullet bonds with fixed coupons although some bonds are successful in the floating rate market. The Italian CCT bonds (*Certificati di Credito del Tesoro*) for example are relatively successful just like the French OATi bonds. Although both bonds pay a variable coupon rate, they are calculated differently. The coupon of CCTs are based on the yield of the last issued 6 month treasury bill plus a fixed spread while the coupon rate of OATi's are based on the level of the French price index. Also, the coupon of CCTs are paid on a semi-annual basis while OATi's are paid on an annual basis.

With respect to the primary auctions, the Italian treasurer announces its auction calendar for the next year in September. The way these auctions are conducted for BTPs and CCTs is through the Dutch auction mechanism, the same method also used for German securities. For the Italian markets, members can post a maximum of 5 bids where the minimum acceptable spread between the bids is at least 5 basis points.

#### 2.2 Secondary Market: The MTS System

Let us now turn our attention to the secondary market. There are two ways in which bonds can be traded in the secondary market of the Eurozone. The traditional way is through an organized exchange were trading has been fairly low. The second way is through the OTC market in which the main players are banks, most of them also participating in the primary auctions.

Of particular interest in the OTC market is the MTS (*Mercato dei Titoli de Stato*) system. This system turned out to be successful by gaining a considerable market share since its creation in 1988 by the Bank of Italy and the Italian Treasury. Nowadays MTS is managed by a private company. The MTS system is an interdealer platform and therefore not accessible to individuals. A recent quarterly bulletin by the Italian treasury<sup>8</sup> reports that some 6.4 billion euro of BTPs were traded on an average base in 2002 by the MTS trading platform. According to an older paper by

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$ According to the Italian treasury, the outstanding debt is around 1200 billion euro including debt issued by state authorities.

 $<sup>^7</sup>$ The word 'equivalent' can be misleading as both bonds where not Euro-denominated before 1999.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Quarterly bulletin-3rd quarter 2002

the Italian debt office, this accounts for some 65% of all secondary market activities<sup>9</sup>.

The original MTS market was first introduced in Italy in 1988 in order to enhance trading in the secondary market for Italian government bonds, which already existed as an over-thecounter market. In order to improve market depth and activity, MTS was reformed in 1994 which created the basis of the current MTS trading system. Privatization of the MTS system into MTS Spa took place in 1997 and later in 1999 EuroMTS was created. In 2001, both EuroMTS and MTS Spa merged into MTS Global Market, becoming the largest interdealer market for Eurodenominated government bonds. Since the end of the nineties, the MTS system expanded to other Euro-denominated markets and is now successfully operational in a number of other Eurozone countries<sup>10</sup>. On these platforms only Government bonds and bills are traded. In April 1999 the EuroMTS system was launched. This electronic trading platform provides trading in European government benchmark bonds as well as high quality non-government bonds covered by either mortgages or public state loans. The final stage of development of the MTS platform was the creation of MTS Credit in May 2000 where only non-government bonds are traded. Although there are different requirements for participants depending on the market of operation, we can categorize all participants either as market makers or as market takers. Market makers have market making obligations as they have to quote all bonds that they are assigned to in a two-way proposal for at least five hours a day. Table 2 gives us an overview of participants on the MTS trading system. As we can see in this table, the largest part of the participants are market makers creating a very competitive trading platform. The only exception can be found for the Italian market where more than 60% of all participants are market takers. Most of the market makers are also active on both platforms. With respect to the identity of the market makers, large market makers have access to both markets while smaller traders tend to participate on the local platform<sup>11</sup>. The large numbers of market makers active on both trading platforms suggest no competitive advantages in terms of quoting rights. In the early years, the system knew full transparency, but in 1997 anonymity was introduced in order to avoid "free-riding". Massa and Simonov (2001b) showed, by analyzing MTS data before and after anonimity was introduced, that "free-riding" existed as the reputation of a market maker had impact on the price process. The maximum spread of these securities are pre-specified depending on liquidity and maturity. Proposals must be formulated for a minimum quantity equal to either 10, 5 or 2.5 million Euro depending on the market and maturity of the bond. In addition, a maximum spread of these proposals exist and is pre- specified depending

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The Italian Treasury and Securities Markets: Overview and Recent Developments. *Public Debt Management Office, March 2000.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>MTS is operational in Finland, Ireland, Belgium, Amsterdam, Germany, France, MTS Portugal and Spain. The MTS system is also operational in Japan. Because we focus on Euro-denominated markets, we leave MTS Japan out of our analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Financial institutions who are designated as market makers must fulfill some financial requirements which differs among the platforms. For example, market makers for Belgian securities must have assets of at least EUR 250 mio. For the EuroMTS, market makers must have assets of minimum net worth of EUR 375 million.

on the liquidity and maturity of the security<sup>12</sup>. Orders in round lots are executed automatically according price priority and the time that they are sent (first in first out). Odd lots are subject to the market makers' acceptance. No obligations apply to market takers, they can only buy or sell at given prices. The quoted proposals are firm, i.e. every trader can hit a quoted proposal and trading is guaranteed against that quote. Effectively, the MTS system therefore works as a limit order book. The live market pages offered to participants show the following functionalities:

- *The quote page* offered to market makers enables them to insert new offers. Posted proposals can be modified, suspended or reactivated;
- *The market depth page* allows participants to see the best 5 bid and ask prices for each security chosen together with its aggregated quantity.
- *The best page* shows for all products the best bid-ask price together with its aggregated quantity;
- The incoming order page permits the manual acceptance within 30 seconds of odd lots.
- The super best page shows the best price for bonds listed on both the local MTS and the EuroMTS. This will allow market makers with access to both markets to see the best price. A market maker who has access to both markets can choose parallel quotation, i.e. simultaneous posting of proposals on the domestic and the EuroMTS platform.
- *Live market pages* shows for every bond the average weighted price and the cumulative amount being traded sofar.

Remember that all trades are anonymous and the identity of the counterpart is only revealed after a trade is executed for clearing and settlement purposes. The aggregated observed quantity is the sum of all quantities chosen to be shown by the market maker. Every market maker can post the entire quantity that he is willing to trade (block quantity) or a smaller amount (drip quantity) while taking into account the minimum quantity required. In the latter case, the remaining quantity will remain hidden to the market. For example, a market maker who has a position of EUR 50 million in a market where the minimum quantity is EUR 10 million can construct 5 drip quantities of 10 million. If we assume that he is the only market maker that time of the day, then the aggregated observed quantity as observed by the market will be 10 million. On the other hand, the market maker can post one block quantity of 50 million creating an aggregated observed quantity of 50 million euro. The MTS trading mechanism consist of two trading platforms where bonds can be traded. For most securities, the market maker can post any prices on both the local MTS (like MTS Belgium, MTS Amsterdam, MTS Italy and MTS France) but also a European system (EuroMTS).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>The longer the maturity the higher the spread. The maximum spread is not binding. A market maker is allowed to propose a quotation larger than this maximum spread. However, activities based on these trades are not added to his performance record.

The latter platform offers trading only in the running benchmark bonds while the local platforms offers trading in non-benchmark bonds as well. For example, 55 BTP bonds are traded on the Italian market while just 11 of these bonds are traded on the EuroMTS system<sup>13</sup>. So at first sight, the EuroMTS might seem redundant as all bonds being traded on this market are also traded on the domestic trading system. However, the existence of both trading platforms suggests differences and we therefore ask ourselves the following question: *Why would a market maker with entrance to the local platforms also would like to operate on the EuroMTS trading platform?* In order to answer this question, a detailed study on the costs and the dynamics of price formation is needed. Before we start however, we introduce our dataset.

#### 2.3 Dataset

Our dataset covers every transaction of Italian, French, German and Belgian government bonds being traded on the MTS platforms from January 2001 until May 2002. The data records include the direction of the trade (buy or sell) and a very accurate time stamp. These data allow us to study a number of market microstructure issues in detail. Table 3 shows us the volume in the various markets including the number of transactions. A total of 867.901 trades took place reflecting more than EUR 4.9 trillion of market value. Here, the Italian bond market is by any means the largest market in our dataset. Some 83% of all transactions stems from trading activities in Italian securities. We also have trading data on the two largest AAA-rated bond markets in our dataset, France and Germany. These countries have a trading volume of some EUR 460 billion and EUR 233 billion respectively.<sup>14</sup> Although the German market is accepted as the benchmark for euro denominated government bonds due to the large liquidity and its triple 'A' status, the trading volume on MTS is fairly low. There are a few reasons for this. First, the EUREX Bond trading platform is comparable to MTS system and offers trading in all fixed income instruments of the federal republic of Germany and sub sovereigns fixed income bonds of Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau (KfW), the European Investment Bank and the States of the German Federal Government. Second, the existence of successful futures contracts on the EUREX and LIFFE has provided investors a low cost margin based trading mechanism for all German bonds. For example, the Bund future is the most traded contract in Europe with an average daily trading volume of some 800.000 contracts on the EUREX reflecting an underlying value of EUR 800bn on a daily basis<sup>15</sup>. The last bond market that we study is Belgium with a trading volume of EUR 316bn. The most important bond of the Belgian treasury are linear bonds, or OLOs as they are known after their combined acronym in French and Dutch (Obligations Linéaire-Lineaire Obligaties). These are straight non-callable

 $<sup>^{13}\</sup>mathrm{As}$  of January 2003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Long term French bonds are divided into OATs, fixed coupon bearing bonds with a maturity between 7 and 30 years and inflation linked bonds called OATi. Short term bonds have maturity between 2 and 5 years and are called BTANs. All these bonds are calculated on an actual/actual basis with annual coupon payments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Source Eurex website. Every bund futures contract requires delivery of EUR 100.000 face value of a bond with a maturity between 8.5 and 10.5 years at the moment of delivery.

bonds with fixed -coupon and redemption value. Table 3 also shows the percentage of trading activity taken place on the local and European MTS platform. German securities are mostly traded on the European platform together with the French medium term notes. Italian and Belgian securities are rarely traded on the European platform as most transactions take place on the local platform. The average trading size in Belgian, French and German long-term securities are quite comparable with more than 7 million euro per trade while the average trading size in Italian securities stands at 5.3 million euro. Because of the requirements with respect to the minimum lots being traded we counted the number of 2.5, 5 and 10 million EURO trades. More than 95 percent of all trades have either 2.5, 5 or 10 million of market value with the exception of the Italian securities, where there is a relative large fraction of odd-lot trades. The most important reason for this difference is the relative small size of the participants on the domestic Italian platform. Now we are ready to calculate some different measures of spread on both the EuroMTS and the local trading platforms. If there are any differences in trading costs between both markets, this may justify the, at first sight redundant, existence of the EuroMTS trading platform.

## 3 Liquidity on the MTS Market

Our first measure of trading costs is the volume weighted quoted spread (VWQS). This is a measure of the depth of the limit order book associated to a specific transaction size, and will reflect the implicit cost for an immediate transaction of a given size. We adapted the indicator of liquidity that Benston et al. (2000) suggested for measuring the ex-ante committed liquidity of a stock market organized like a limit order book. Let  $B_0$  denote the inside bid price and  $A_0$  the inside ask price with  $B_h > B_{h+1}$  and  $A_h < A_{h+1}$  respectively. Let the euro amount of bonds offered or requested at these prices be  $Q_h^z$  with z = ask, bid and let the trade size be L = 5, 10, 25 million euro, respectively.<sup>16</sup> Define the indicator  $I_h^z$  as:

$$I_{h}^{z} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } L > \sum_{i=1}^{h} Q_{i}^{z} \\ Q_{h}^{-z} \left[ L - \sum_{i=1}^{h} Q_{i}^{z} \right] & \text{if } \sum_{i=1}^{h-1} Q_{i}^{z} < L < \sum_{i=1}^{h} Q_{i}^{z} \\ 0 & \text{if } \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(1)

The volume weighted quoted spread associated to a trade size equal to L is

$$WQBAS(L) = \frac{2\left[\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} I_h^{ask} A_h Q_h^{ask} - \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} I_h^{bid} B_h Q_h^{bid}\right]}{L(A_0 + B_0)}$$
(2)

Table 4 reports the Volume Weighted Quoted Spread measure for class A, B, C and D benchmark bonds for Belgium, France, Germany and Italy, on the domestic and EuroMTS platforms<sup>17</sup>. Our findings are that the quoted spread is similar across countries and for class A and B bonds, around 2 or 3 basis points from the best prevailing midquote. For class C bonds, the quoted spread is

 $<sup>^{16}\</sup>mathrm{These}$  transaction sizes are the most frequently traded in MTS Global Market.

 $<sup>^{17}\</sup>mathrm{The}$  estimates are based on data from 4-8 and 11-15 February 2002.

slightly higher than for the A and B class. The Italian market is more liquid than the others for class C bonds, probably because it includes the heavily traded 10 year BTP bonds. The quoted spread is substantially higher for the longest maturity bucket D (13.5 to 30 years), ranging from 11 to 18 basis points, depending on maturity and country. This pattern is consistent with the findings in Amihud and Mendelsohn (1991), who show that the bid-ask spread is higher in US treasury notes compared to more liquid US T-bills.

An interesting finding is that the market is very deep, i.e. the quoted spread for large orders is only marginally bigger than the quoted spread for standard size orders. For example, for the Italian 10 year benchmark bond the quoted spread for a standard 5 million trade is 3 basis points, for a large trade of 25 million the quoted spread is still below 4 basis points. This pattern is similar for the other bond classes and countries. In practice, trades larger than 10 million Euro are rare. Observe that the quoted spreads on the EuroMTS platform are always slightly bigger than on the domestic MTS platforms, but the pattern across bond classes and countries is exactly the same as on the domestic MTS systems.

Of course, the quoted spread may include periods where there is little trading and may give a inaccurate indication of actually incurred trading costs. Therefore, we also calculate measures of the effective spread. The effective spread is defined as twice the difference between the transaction price and the midpoint of bid and ask quotes

$$\hat{S}_{eff} = \frac{1}{T} \sum_{t=1}^{T} 2I_t (p_t - m_t)$$
(3)

where  $p_t$  is the transaction price,  $m_t$  the prevailing midquote at the time of the trade, and  $I_t$  the buy/sell indicator ( $I_t = +1$  if the trade is initiated by the buyer,  $I_t = -1$  if it is initiated by the seller). In our dataset we do not always observe  $p_t$  and  $m_t$  exactly at the same time, but we select the midquote that in time is closest to the time of the transaction. The realized spread compares the transaction price  $p_t$  and the subsequent midquote,  $m_{t+1}$ . Here we use a similar definition,

$$\hat{S}_{realized} = \frac{1}{T} \sum_{t=1}^{T} 2I_t (p_t - m_{t+1})$$
(4)

It is obviously not always the case that the trade price is above/below the subsequent midprice for buyer/seller initiated trades, as the market may have moved. Therefore, the realized spread measure may be negative.

Table 5 shows the estimates of effective and realized spread. The table shows that the realized spread is always smaller than the effective spread. The numbers, however, are sometimes quite large and the estimates of the effective spread are probably not very accurate due to the mismatch in time between trade and midquote. Table 5 also provides the outcome of testing whether the effective (realized) spread on the EuroMTS is significantly different from the effective (realized) spread on the domestic platforms. As we can see, there can be a difference in realized spreads but this only occurs for a small number of bonds. We now turn to a final measure of the spread. We

use a measure that is based on transaction prices only: the spread based on absolute price changes between two transactions

$$S_{APC} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{t=1, j \neq z}^{n} \left| p_{t+1}^{j} - p_{t}^{z} \right|$$
(5)

where j = ask, bid and z = bid, ask. Table 6 reports estimates of the spread based on absolute price changes for the same menu of bonds as before. The results confirm the pattern that we found for the quoted spreads. Estimated spreads are increasing with maturity, and on average are slightly higher on EuroMTS. Moreover, the estimated spread of the long bonds is somewhat smaller in the Italian securities compared to the estimated spread in Germany and France. Figure 2 shows the same information graphically. Table 6 also includes a test to see whether there exist significant differences between EuroMTS and the local trading platform. Some differences exist but the overall conclusion is that spreads across the different platforms are the same. Finally, we take a quick look at intraday spread patterns. Figure 3 shows the intraday pattern of quoted spreads for the most actively traded issue, the Italian 10-year bond. The quoted spreads shows a typical U-shaped pattern, the trading day kicks off with a relative large spread around 3 basis point in the early morning, falling to 2 basis points in the late morning and gradually increasing to 4 basis points in the late afternoon. Figure 4 shows the intraday pattern of effective and realized spread for the 10 year Italian bond. Again, a U-shaped pattern is being observed in here as well.

Summarizing these results, this section provided us some insights in the pricing behavior of market makers on both the local and EuroMTS trading platforms. We conclude that the quoted spread across countries is similar for bonds with a short maturity. For long term bonds differences exist. At first sight, the data suggest that the quoted spread varies over time while being lower on the domestic platforms. Effective spread estimates based on transaction prices show a very similar pattern across maturities. However, when testing differences in spreads between the domestic and EuroMTS platforms, we find that differences exist for a few bonds and in general, both markets are very integrated. Hence, there appears to be no difference between both markets with respect to the quoted bid-ask spreads. The MTS order book for these benchmark bonds is also very deep as the quoted spreads are only marginally different for larger trade sizes. By analyzing intraday patterns of the spread, we find that the quoted spread show a U-shaped pattern.

# 4 The Price Impact of Trading in Interdealer Markets

The analysis in the previous section provides us some useful insights in the trading costs on the MTS trading platforms. A dynamic structure however will give us additional information. Our data also contains the exact time of the days in which a trade occurs, giving us the opportunity to take the trading intensity into account. The theoretical literature is not unanimous about the effect of trading intensity on price dynamics. From the information based approach, one can argue that

informed market participants want to trade as much and as fast as possible without being detected. Hence, informed traders will trade when noise traders are active (Kyle, 1985) or trading intensity is high (Easley and O'Hara, 1992). These papers argue that there exist a positive relationship between information and trading intensity as more informed traders are active during high market activity<sup>18</sup>. This means that any unexpected trade during active trading has a higher impact on prices. On the other side, Diamond and Verrechia (1987) argue that informed traders always trade, no matter what the nature of the information is as they can take long or short positions. However, if short sale constraints exist, bad news takes more time to reveal resulting in lower market activity or trading intensity. Hence, a longer period of trade absence increases the probability of facing an informed trader with bad news who is constrained from selling short. Therefore, they expect a negative relationship between information and trading intensity (more informed traders will trade during low trading intensity) and hence a negative correlation between price discovery and trading intensity (higher impact of trades arriving after a longer period of inactivity). More recently, Dufour and Engle (2000) show for stock market data that a higher trading intensity is related to stronger price impacts. This suggest that a larger trading size or trading intensity is likely to be an informational event as the market maker increase its bid ask spread in response to trades. The same results are reported by Spierdijk (2002). She shows using NYSE stock trading data that, during trading intensive sessions, a new trade has a larger impact on prices. Before we start with the introduction of the model, it is worthwile to give a reconcillation of previous research on interdealer trading.

### 4.1 Interdealer Trading: An Overview

Although the importance of competition between market makers has been known for a long time, some influential papers like Stoll (1978), Copeland and Galai (1983) and Kyle (1985) focus on the behavior of a single market maker. There is however a small but important collection of theoretical papers on the behavior of market makers in a competitive setting. In these papers a crucial role is played by inventory. Ho and Stoll (1983) analyze the impact of inventory on trading behavior and argue that market makers having the largest long (short) position are first sellers (buyers). Biais (1993) analyzed the equilibrium number of traders in a competitive market setup and shows that the number of interdealer trades depends on the volatility of the security and the trading activity in the market. He also finds that the quoted spread around his reservation price is a decreasing function of the inventory. This supports the findings of Ho and Stoll. Lyons (1997) focuses specifically on order flow among dealers rather than inventory control. He finds that the repeated passing of inventory among dealers (the 'hot potato' effect) creates additional noise in the order

 $<sup>^{18}</sup>$ Kyle's (1985) model itself does explicitly make a statement about time as orders are aggregated. He does however argue that informed traders prefer to trade simultaneously with noise traders in order to minimize the chance of being detected. In Easly and O'Hara (1992) they argue that absence of trades reflects no-news creating a safer environment for a market maker to lower its spread.

flow as dealers influence the pricing directly. This creates noise which in turn makes it harder for dealers to infer the true price of a security. There is also empirical documentation on interdealer trading. Manaster and Mann (1996) use CME Futures transactions and find evidence that futures floor traders manage their inventory on a daily basis. They find that active sellers have most likely the largest long position supporting the competitive dealer model of Ho-Stoll (1983). In contrast to what inventory models predict, they find that an increase in the market makers position is done at less favorable prices. This suggest that market makers not only provide a service to their clients for providing liquidity, but also are active investors willing to increase their position to speculate. Reiss and Werner (1998) provide a detailed study of inventory control among market makers on the London Stock Exchange. Using trading data, they test several hypotheses with respect to interdealer trading and find that 65% of all interdealer trades are used to reverse positions. This suggests that market makers use interdealer trades to reduce inventory risk. Hansch, Naik and Viswanathan (1998) also use trading data from the London Stock Exchange and find that the mean reverting component in interdealer trades varies over time. There are periods in which inventory moves stronger back to its long run average. Overall, they find that this mean reversion component is stronger compared to the traditional specialist markets as found by e.g. Madhavan and Schmidt (1993). This suggests that it is easier to manage inventory using interdealer trading.

Both the Reiss-Werner and Hansch *et al.* paper analyze the motives and characteristics of interdealer trades but do specifically analyze the impact of these trades on price dynamics. We think that trading activity and order flow are important in the price process. Specifically, we expect trades in an interdealer system during busy periods having a positive but smaller impact on prices than during quiet periods for numerous reasons. The first reason are the searching costs involved in inventory control. Hansch, Naik and Viswanathan's argument of *changing* mean reversion in inventory depends on the searching cost for a counterpart<sup>19</sup>. To unwind a position, a market maker can choose to wait until a trader enters the market or conduct an interdealer trade. Hence, the market maker may choose to trade immediately through the interdealer channel (paying the other market makers bid-ask price) or to wait (receiving his own bid-ask price). Hence, the potential costs of market making is lower during busy periods as it is more likely that another trader enters the market in a reasonable time avoiding the more costly interdealer trading. Closely related to this point is the argument of Reiss and Werner who argues that the direction of trade depends on the anticipation of a trade<sup>20</sup> which emphasizes the importance of order flows in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>The cost of this sure execution is the fact that you cannot sell (buy) at your own bid (ask) price but at other market makers ask (bid) price. These searching costs are already known from the limit book literature. See e.g. Foucault et al. (2001) and Parlour (1998) and the references therein. This point was also pointed out by Flood et al. (1999) in an experimental setting.

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$ They note that if a order is anticipated, then "interdealer trades will precede customer trades in the same direction" e.g. if the dealer expects customer flows of buy trades, he will also start buying in the interdealer market. In contrast, if the order flow was unanticipated, "follow up trades will move in the opposite direction" e.g. unexpected customer buy trades will result in the interdealer sell trades.

price process. If a market maker anticipates incorrectly, he can easier correct his mistake when trades arrive frequently<sup>21</sup>. The second reason lies in the information value of order flow. The type of private information in government bond market however is fairly different from the information in stock markets, but comparable with the client based order flow information found by Lyons (1997) and Evans and Lyons (2002). These papers show that client based order flows also has a persistent impact on prices and market makers may therefore narrow their spreads to attract customer flows<sup>22</sup> explaining the empirical findings of Manaster and Mann (1996). The information acquired by market makers in these markets are long lived (compared to stock markets) and a market maker who observes a great deal of order flows can hold such information over time as there is no need to exploit this unique information as soon as possible. Therefore, a trade after a long time may be conducted by an informed trader. Moreover, Kaniel and Liu (2003) show that informed traders tend to use more limit than market orders when information is long lived resulting in a larger net supply of liquidity, smaller bid/ask spread and a smaller price impact of trades. Closely related to this point is the additional noise that arise when inventory is repeatedly passed among dealers using market orders. Lyons (1997) showed in a theoretical setup that the repeated passing of inventory is harmful as it creates additional noise in the order flow. Hence, in order to avoid any sequence of hot potato trading, the impact of an unexpected trade in a quiet trading environment may have a larger impact on the price than under a high trading environment as this creates an incentive to pass the inventory to another market maker rather than to wait for an incoming order.

In this analysis, it is also important to take the role of macroeconomic announcements into account. Fleming and Remolona (1999), Balduzzi, Elton and Green (2001) showed that macroeconomic news produces an important impact on bond prices as the largest price movements arises in days with economic announcements. These papers find that before the announcement, trading intensity and price volatility is low while bid-ask spreads are high. Green (2004) documented a higher adverse selection component after the announcement of news and argues that this is due to an increase in trading activity. Dealers absorbing a large portions of order flow may have superior information about short term price directions. This information advantage will result in a dispersion of information among dealers and an increase in information asymmetry in the market. This rationale is fully consistent with the order flow information models by Lyons and Cao (1999), Fleming (2001) and Lyons (2001). Green (2004) also finds that prices are more sensitive to order flow in a period of increased liquidity after a scheduled announcement. The same pattern is also documented by Cohen and Shin (2003).

Summarizing, order flow and trading intensity play an important role in interdealer trading.

 $<sup>^{21}</sup>$ Garman (1976) expects market makers to control the entering of traders by adjusting their bid and ask price. He shows that there is less need to adjust the spread as traders enter the market on a frequent basis during high market activity.

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$ This strategy has been addressed by Madhavan (1995).

From the perspective of inventory control, price discovery is negatively correlated with trading intensity as the ability to control inventory is easier during high market activity. At the same time, the informational content of order flow can be extracted and analyzed. It is therefore important to take the role of these factors into account when analyzing the price process.

### 4.2 The Impact of Trading Intensity on Prices

In the previous section, we argued that in interdealer markets a reverse relationship between price impact and trading intensity may exist. To test this empirically, we have to model price impact by taking order flow order flow dynamics and trading intensity into account. We apply the VAR model proposed by Dufour-Engle (2000). The model is a system of two dynamic equations, one for price changes (returns) and one for signed quantities, with lagged values of both variables as explanatory variables. This model allows us to analyze the interaction between order flow and returns in the form of impulse responses of a shock (an unexpected trade) to the trading process. The main advantage of this model is the dynamic setup between order flow and price return. This is important for the reasons mentioned previously but also because market makers on the MTS trading platforms are able to extract information from the live market pages of the system<sup>23</sup>. Therefore, the process of market making not only depends on the concurrent price and trade but also on the previous changes in price and order flow. Lagged traded quantity is also important as the MTS trading system allows the splitting of orders and it is likely that the observed order book is the drip quantity instead of the total (block) quantity. Following Dufour-Engle, we make the coefficients a function of trading intensity, defined as the reciprocal of the number of minutes between two trades. We also make the coefficients depend on the location of the trade, i.e. whether the trade occurred on a domestic platform or on EuroMTS. Intraday data typically contain very strong diurnal patterns. Engle and Russel (1998) documented higher volatility at the beginning and end of the day with similar patterns for volume and spreads. In order to capture some of these patterns, we correct duration for intraday seasonality. The exact procedure is as follows: we divide our dataset in 17 intervals running from [8.30-9.00) to [17.00-17.30). Prior to estimation, we skip the durations between market close and the next day's opening. Our indicator for trading duration in interval  $\tau$  is given by  $T_{t,\tau}$  which is the time in minutes between trade t and trade  $t - 1^{24}, t \in \tau$ . The trading duration is now corrected for diurnal patterns by dividing by the average trading duration in interval  $\tau$  as given by  $\overline{T}_{\tau}$ . Although we use the term trading intensity throughout the paper, we must keep in mind that this is inversely related to  $\ln T_{t-i}$ . In other words, the higher  $\ln T_{t-i}$ , the longer the duration was between trade t and t-1 and hence the lower the trading

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$ In the MTS platform, a market maker receive market updates with respect to cumulatives quantity (not signed) and the weighted average price from the past 5 minutes in the running hour.

 $<sup>^{24}</sup>$ We add one second to the observed duration, because some trades have exactly the same time stamp but a different transaction price.

intensity. With these ingredients, the full model is

$$r_t = \bar{\alpha}^r + \sum_{i=1}^P \left( \bar{\beta}_i^r + \bar{z}_i^r \ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}} \right) r_{t-i} + \sum_{i=0}^P \left( \bar{\gamma}_i^r + \bar{\delta}_i^r D_{t-i} + \bar{\tau}_i^r \ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}} \right) Q_{t-i} + \varepsilon_{1,t}$$

$$\tag{6}$$

$$Q_{t} = \bar{\alpha}^{Q} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \left( \bar{\beta}_{i}^{Q} + \bar{z}_{i}^{Q} \ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}} \right) r_{t-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \left( \bar{\gamma}_{i}^{Q} + \bar{\delta}_{i}^{Q} D_{t-i} + \bar{\tau}_{i}^{Q} \ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}} \right) Q_{t-i} + \varepsilon_{2,t}$$

where  $r_t = 10000 \ln(P_t/P_{t-1})$  and  $Q_t$  is the signed quantity in millions of Euro's of the notional amount. Hence,  $Q_t$  is negative when a 'sell' occurred while being positive in case of a 'buy'. The coefficients are a function of the duration since the previous trade  $(T_t)$  and a market dummy  $(D_t)$ which takes the value 1 if the trade at t occurred on the European MTS and zero otherwise. Notice that the equation for the returns contains a contemporaneous effect of the signed trade quantity. For the identification of the model we therefore assume that the error terms are mutually and serially uncorrelated.

#### 4.3 Empirical Results

In the estimation, we truncated the lagged variable at p = 3. Because of the likely presence of heteroskedasticity we report White heteroskedastic consistent standard errors for statistical inference. Further details of the estimation are given in the appendix. In order to preserve space, we focus our discussion on the Italian 2011 and 2012 bonds as these are the most actively traded securities in our dataset. The estimation results can be found in Table 7.

#### 4.3.1 Return Equation

The effects of trades on the quote revision  $r_t$  are considered here and the most important set of parameters for our investigation are  $\gamma_i^r$ ,  $\delta_i^r$  and  $\tau_i^r$ , which are the signed quantity indicator, market indicator and the interaction between signed quantity and duration. The interaction between signed quantity and duration. The interaction between signed quantity and return is reflected in the  $\gamma_i^r$  parameter. First, note that  $\gamma_0^r = 0.105$ . This indicates an instantaneous upward (downward) price movement when a buy (sell) order occurs. The magnitude depends on the quantity being traded. Interesting are the results for the lagged variables  $\gamma_2 = 0.004$  and  $\gamma_3 = 0.003$  which are both positive and significant at a 10% confidence interval. Significant lagged effects of trading volume of price returns were also found by Manaster and Mann (1996) for futures on the CME and they argue that this is consistent with active position building. There is however not much variability in the quantities being traded as most trades are executed in units of 5 or 10 million euro.

With respect to the market indicator, we find that  $\delta_0 = -0.025$  is significant and negative while all other lagged market indicators are not significant. This means that (ceteris paribus) a buy trade at time t = 0, i.e.  $Q_t = +1$ , has a lower instantaneous impact on price relative to the same trade on the local MTS market. Recall that the dependent variable is  $10000\ln(P_t/P_{t-1})$  and the total impact of a one million 'buy' trade on the EuroMTS platform is therefore  $\gamma_0 + \delta_0 = 0.105 - 0.025 = 0.08$ or 0.4 basis points for a 5 million euro trade. On the other hand, the same trade has an impact of 0.53 basis points on the local platform resulting in a difference of approximately 0.13 basis points return per EUR 5mio.

The  $z_i^r$  parameter relates the change in  $r_t$  and its own lagged values. Table 7 shows us that its lagged variable is important and significant at a 10% confidence interval. The most important parameter for our analysis would be  $\tau_i^r$  as it indicates the interaction of duration and signed quantity on return. Our estimates shows that the  $\tau_0^r = 0.046$  and  $\tau_1^r = -0.006$  are significant. In other words, the larger the quantity being traded, the stronger the instantaneous price reaction. This reaction will be even stronger when trading intensity is low. The expected instantaneous price reaction on a local market given a duration  $\ln(\tau^*)$  is given by  $(\gamma_0 + \tau_0 \ln(\tau^*)) = 0.105 + 0.046 \ln(\tau^*)$ . On the other hand,  $\tau_1^r < 0$  indicates an increase in price when the previous quantity was a "sell" and a decrease in price when the previous order was a "buy". Because we find a positive  $\tau_0^r$  we argue that a transaction arriving after a long interval has a stronger impact on trades than a transaction after a short interval. This is in contrast to the findings of Dufour and Engle (2000) or Spierdijk (2002) who both find a stronger impact after a short time interval.

With respect to the results of the return equation for the other 2011 bond series<sup>25</sup>, we do find differences between the domestic platform and EuroMTS in these markets; the  $\delta_0$  parameter is significant for Belgium ( $\delta_0 = 0.067$ ) and Germany ( $\delta_0 = -0.226$ ). This explains the fact that Belgium bonds mostly being traded on the local market while the German bonds are traded on the European platform. We do find a positive  $\gamma_0^r$  for the other bond series, which runs from 0.007 for Belgium to 0.39 for Germany. The lagged variables  $\gamma_i^r$  are all not significant. We find a significant  $\tau_0$  parameter for Belgium ( $\tau_0 = -0.047$ ) and France ( $\tau_0 = 0.035$ ). Note that the Belgian parameter is positive which means that the impact of a trade during a period of high trading intensity is larger.

Turning our attention to the 2012 bond series, we see that the reported results also for the BTP 2012 bond. Here  $\tau_0 = 0.054$  and again, a trade after a quiet period has a larger impact on price compared to the same trade in a busy period. Again,  $\delta_0$  is negative and equals 0.057 and the total impact of a one million 'buy' trade on the EuroMTS platform is therefore  $\gamma_0 + \delta_0 = 0.144 - 0.057 = 0.087$  or 0.44 basis points for a 5 million euro trade. The same trade has an impact of 0.72 basis points on the local platform resulting in a difference of approximately 0.15bp. For the other 2012 bond series, we cannot find any significant  $\tau_0$  and  $\delta_0$ .

#### 4.3.2 Quantity Equation

Let us now focus on the effect of trades on the quantity equation. As in the return equation, we estimate the model using heteroskedastic consistent standard errors. Again, we base our discussion

 $<sup>^{25}</sup>$ To preserve space, we do not present their estimation results. They are available upon request

on the estimation results for the Italian 2011 bond. First, signed trade volume exhibits strong autocorrelation. The constant in our regression model is positive and significant differently from zero. The  $\gamma_i^Q$  parameters are all positive and significant. Hence, a buy (sell) order is likely to be followed by some additional buy (sell) orders. This is also confirmed by the results of Hasbrouck (1991a) and Dufour and Engle (2000). This effect is even stronger on the EuroMTS platform for the BTP 2011 bond as  $\delta_i > 0$  and significant for all lagged flows. Interesting are the estimates of the duration coefficients  $\tau_i^Q$  which are negative and significant. The conclusion that  $\gamma_i^Q > 0$  is that "buy" is likely accompanied by a another "buy" but the fact that  $\tau_i^Q < 0$  reflects the fact that this likelihood will decrease when the time between the trades increases. In other words, buy orders are likely to be accompanied with further buy orders but this pattern decreases when duration is longer and activity is lower. This implies a weaker positive autocorrelation of signed trades when trading activity is low<sup>26</sup>.

Because the estimation results for both 2011 and 2012 bonds suggest some interaction between duration, signed quantity and price impact we test whether these coefficient are jointly zero in the return equation using a Wald test based on the White estimator. The results of this test is shown in Table 8. Specifically, we test whether  $\tau_0^r = \tau_1^r = \tau_2^r = \tau_3^r = 0$ , which is  $\chi_{(4)}$  distributed under the null hypothesis. The null hypothesis is rejected for the Belgian 2011 and French 2011 bonds and the only time series being consistent are the Italian bonds.

Cohen and Shin (2003) also analyses the impact of trades on return for the US treasury market. Their VAR estimations are based on different subsamples of high and low trading intensity. They find that the impact on return on high trading intensive days is larger compared to days of low trading intensity. However, their approach is somewhat different as they do not take into account the irregular time interval between observations and the diurnal patterns observed. Interesting is their analysis of impulse response function for February 3, 2000 which was a very volatile day with a lot of uncertainty in the market. The nature of this shock, which occurred the day before<sup>27</sup>, was so unique that uncertainty still existed several days after. Our approach described above however does not isolate volatile days, instead it averages the trading intensity throughout the dataset. It is however interesting to see how trading responses to news. Our dataset is detailed enough to incorporate the impact of macroeconomic news on the trading mechanism. We therefore divide our dataset into a sample with no news and a sample with macroeconomic news anoouncements. The same model is used and the outcome is the subject of our next section.

#### 4.4 The Impact of News Announcements

We re-estimate the Dufour-Engle model for the Italian 2011 bond by incorporating news with the highest trade impact by following the outcome of Fleming and Remolona (1999) and use



 $<sup>^{26}\</sup>mathrm{These}$  effects are also found for the BTP 2012 bond.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>On February 2, the Treasury announced the reduction of future supply in especially the long end of the curve. This resulted in a significant flattening of the curve in the 10-30yr area.

the European equivalents of their outcome<sup>28</sup>. We also include the US jobless claims, Producer Price Index, NAPM, consumer confidence and Fed fund target rates as these events are also awaited anxiously by European bond traders and therefore may have an impact on trading. Let us discuss the findings for  $\gamma_i^r$  (effect of signed quantity on return),  $\delta_i^r$  (effect of trading platform on return) and  $\tau_i^r$  (effect of duration on return)<sup>29</sup>. Because we focus on the return equation, we omit the superscript r. Our data could be divided into days with no news announcements (40043 observations) and days with news announcements (105 days, 20781 observations).

The effect of order flow on return is reflected by the  $\gamma_i$  parameters. First, the instantaneous impact of an incoming order is the largest for days with news announcements and the smallest for days without announcements ( $\gamma_0^{(news)} = 0.109$  versus  $\gamma_0^{(no-news)} = 0.104$ ). The lagged variables  $\gamma_{t-i}$  are all positive but insignificant<sup>30</sup>. The impact of a trade on return for the MTS and EMTS platform can be analyzed through the  $\delta_i$  parameters. We find that  $\delta_0$  is significant and smallest during days without news announcements ( $\delta_0^{(no-news)} = -0.0253$  versus  $\delta_0^{(news)} = -0.0223$ ). All other lagged market indicators appears not to be significant. Because this parameter is negative, it means that the impact is smaller on the EMTS trading platform but the difference becomes smaller during announcement days. Overall, the estimated magnitudes show that the instantaneous impact of a trade on the EMTS during an announcement day is larger compared to a non-announcement day and that its difference per EUR 5mio trade is  $5 \times 0.008 = 0.04$  basis point <sup>31</sup>. Interesting are also the  $\tau_i$  parameters which reflects the impact of duration on return. Our estimates are positive, significant and larger for days without news announcements ( $\tau_0^{(no-news)} = 0.049$  versus  $\tau_0^{(news)} = 0.043$ ). It shows that the instantaneous price impact of order flow is stronger in periods with low trading intensity and this effect is even stronger in days without announcements.

We can conclude the following: The impact of trades are larger during days where news are announced and this confirms the findings of Cohen and Shin (2003) and Green (2004) who conducted a comparable analysis using treasury bonds. However, in contrast to their model, we also make a distinction between intraday trading intensity under news versus no news announcements. We find that, although the impact during days with news announcements is larger, the magnitude becomes even larger when intraday trading intensity is lower.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Specifically, we use the European employment numbers, ECB meetings, Producer Price index, Consumer Price Index, IFO survey, retail sales, gross domestic product, industrial production and consumer confidence.

 $<sup>^{29}</sup>$ The tables with estimation results are ommitted in here but available upon request.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>The exception is  $\gamma_3^{(n\,ew\,s)} = 0.0065$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>Combining the results for  $\delta_0$  and  $\gamma_0$ , we find that the impact of **a** trade on the EMTS per EUR 1 mio face value is the largest during announcement days  $\delta_0^{(news)} - \delta_0^{(no-news)} + \gamma_0^{(news)} - \gamma_0^{(no-news)} = 0.008.$ 

### 4.5 Impulse Response Functions

In order to analyze the price and trade volume dynamics we calculate the impulse response function using the estimated coefficients for the local trading platform<sup>32</sup>. Specifically, we are interested in an unexpected shock in the signed quantities innovation and its impact on return and signed quantity when an unexpected buy trade of EUR 5mio occurs in the market. Here, we use the average trading intensity for analyzing the systems dynamics and the model changes into

$$r_{t} = \bar{\alpha}^{r} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \bar{\beta}_{i}^{r} r_{t-i} + \sum_{i=0}^{P} \bar{\gamma}_{i}^{r} Q_{t-i} + \varepsilon_{1,t}$$

$$Q_{t} = \bar{\alpha}^{Q} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \bar{\beta}_{i}^{Q} r_{t-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \bar{\gamma}_{i}^{Q} Q_{t-i} + \varepsilon_{2,t}$$
(7)

which is the VAR model that Hasbrouck (1991) used. Again, we focus our discussion on the impulse response functions of the Italian securities which are given in figure 5 and 6. The figures also shows the impulse response function when a trade occur in a period with high trading intensity (straight line) and in a period with low trading intensity (dotted line). In the high trading intensity case, we pick a trade with  $T_{t-i,\tau}$  on the 10<sup>th</sup> quantile and, in case of low trading intensity, we pick a trade with  $T_{t-i,\tau}$  on the 90<sup>th</sup> quantile. As we can see, the initial response at time t = 1 is much larger during a period of low trading activity. The appendix gives us some details of impulse response functions in these cases.

An unexpected buy trade results in a positive response as a buy will always be traded on the ask side. Note that the initial impact of a buy trade is much larger when the market is quiet, i.e. the time between trades is large and the lowest impact on the price process occurs when trading intensity is high. As we can see in the figures, an unexpected positive shock results in a instantaneous upward price movement between 0.4bp to 0.6bp for the BTP 2011 and 0.4bp to 0.9bp for the BTP 2012. The bid-ask bounds arises in the 2nd trade which will cause the impulse response function to move downwards. However, the estimations suggested a positive correlation between order flows and a buy order is likely to be followed up by additional buy orders and the system therefore does not instantaneous move back to its equilibrium, instead it takes approximately 9 trades before the system is back to its equilibrium. The permanent effect of a initial buy on the price process is positive as shown by the accumulated response function. As we can see, the permanent impact runs from 0.45bp to 0.9bp with a highest impact for periods in which trading intensity is low followed by average and high trading intensive periods.

We also computed the impulse response functions taking announcements into account. As we can see in figure 7 and 8, the accumulated impact of a EUR 5mio buy trade has resulted in an 0.57bp increase in return in case when no news arrives and 0.64bp when news arrives. However,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>The appendix provides details on the calculation of the impulse responses.

the impact is larger during periods with a higher trading intensity as the accumulated response stands at 0.65bp for no-announcement days and 0.7bp for announcement days.

# 5 Conclusions

This paper offers some insights in the microstructure of the European government bond market. This platform is the largest pan European interdealer system in which market makers are obligated to quote two sides. Our analysis focuses on the benchmark bonds of Belgium, France, Germany and Italy. An interesting feature of this market is that we have both a local and EuroMTS trading platform where the securities can be traded. At first sight, the EuroMTS platform appears to be redundant as the local markets provide a larger number of securities while attracting the largest part of the order flow. We analyzed a number of reasons which might explained the existence of the EuroMTS platform. We first measured trading costs using static measures such as the quoted spread, the effective spread and the realized spread. The results show that the spreads in the bond market are very small, between 1 and 3 basis points for the issues with maturities up to 10 years. The 30 year issues have somewhat higher spreads. The spreads are smallest for the most actively traded issues such as the Italian 10 year bonds. For some securities there are small differences between the spreads on the MTS domestic trading platforms and EuroMTS. The domestic markets typically offer slightly better spreads (both quoted and effective) although differences are small, and if they exist, they turn into the local platforms favour. Any reasons favoring the existence of the EuroMTS system cannot be based to differences in spreads or price impacts of order flow. We think that this issue traces back to the request of treasury agents to have a domestic platform for monitoring rather than one dominant European platform. In addition, although the local systems provides us a richer menu of bonds, some participants are willing to trade only the benchmark securities.

We then turn our attention to the price impact of trades and trading duration. The interdealer literature suggest that a key role is played by inventory control which depends on trading activity. Specifically, we argue that it is more difficult to control inventory when trading activity is low, increasing the search cost. Moreover, the information content of order flow and the repeated passing of inventory creates additional noise in the price process. We analyze price discovery by adding parameters of trading intensity and lagged order flows, using the Dufour-Engle model. The results show that order flow is an important determinant of price fluctuations on the bond market. Also, trading intensity plays a key role. In contrast to findings for stock markets, we find a higher price impact of trades after long durations, and lower price impacts when trading activity is high. We also find that the order flow becomes less correlated after long durations. Finally, we divided our dataset into days with and without important news announcements and re-estimate the model. We find that the impact of order flows are much larger under days with announcements. This effect is even magnified under low intraday trading intensity. Finally, when analyzing the price impacts of a trade, we find that the EuroMTS turns out to be a better channel for trading large trades although the reported differences are very small. We therefore conclude that both trading platforms are very much integrated.

# A Econometric details

This appendix gives details on the econometric methods used in the Dufour-Engle model. Instead of estimating model (6) per equation, we estimate the model as a dynamic simultaneous equation model. Following Hasbrouck (1991a), we first rewrite the model into vector notation

$$\mathbf{Y}_{t} = \sum_{i=1}^{P} \bar{\mathbf{A}}_{i} \mathbf{Y}_{t-i} + \bar{\mathbf{a}} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \bar{\mathbf{B}}_{i} \mathbf{X}_{t-i} + \sum_{i=0}^{P} \bar{\mathbf{C}}_{i} D_{t-i} Q_{t-i} + \bar{\mathbf{G}} \mathbf{Y}_{t} + \bar{\mathbf{F}}_{0} \ln T_{t} Q_{t} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t}$$
(8)

where

$$\mathbf{Y}_{t-i} = \begin{bmatrix} r_{t-i} \\ Q_{t-i} \end{bmatrix}, \mathbf{X}_{t-i} = \begin{bmatrix} \ln(T_{t-i,\tau}\bar{T}_{\tau}^{-1})r_{t-i} \\ \ln(T_{t-i,\tau}\bar{T}_{\tau}^{-1})Q_{t-i} \end{bmatrix},$$
(9)

 $\operatorname{and}$ 

$$\bar{\mathbf{a}} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\alpha}^r \\ \bar{\alpha}^Q \end{bmatrix}, \bar{\mathbf{A}}_i = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\beta}_i^r & \bar{\gamma}_i^r \\ \beta_i^Q & \bar{\gamma}_i^Q \end{bmatrix}, \bar{\mathbf{B}}_i = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{z}_i^r & \bar{\tau}_i^r \\ \bar{z}_i^Q & \bar{\tau}_i^Q \\ \bar{z}_i^Q & \bar{\tau}_i^Q \end{bmatrix},$$
(10)

$$\bar{\mathbf{C}}_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\delta}_{i}^{r} \\ \bar{\delta}_{i}^{Q} \end{bmatrix}, \bar{\mathbf{C}}_{0} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\delta}_{0}^{r} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \bar{\mathbf{F}}_{0} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\tau}_{0}^{r} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \bar{\mathbf{G}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \bar{\gamma}_{0}^{r} \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(11)

Here the  $\mathbf{Y}_t$  variables are endogenous as it contains the output of the system while  $\mathbf{X}_t$  contains the observable input variables and therefore being exogenous. The reduced form of the *t*-th equation in model 8 is given by

$$\mathbf{Y}_{t} = \left(\mathbf{I}_{2} - \bar{\mathbf{G}}\right)^{-1} \left[\sum_{i=1}^{P} \bar{\mathbf{A}}_{i} \mathbf{Y}_{t-i} + \bar{\mathbf{a}} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \bar{\mathbf{B}}_{i} \mathbf{X}_{t-i} + \sum_{i=0}^{P} \bar{\mathbf{C}}_{i} D_{t-i} Q_{t-i} + \bar{\mathbf{F}}_{0} \ln T_{t} Q_{t} + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t}\right]$$
$$\equiv \sum_{i=1}^{P} \mathbf{A}_{i} \mathbf{Y}_{t-i} + \mathbf{a} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \mathbf{B}_{i} \mathbf{X}_{t-i} + \sum_{i=0}^{P} \mathbf{C}_{i} D_{t-i} Q_{t-i} + \mathbf{F}_{0} \ln T_{t} Q_{t} + \mathbf{v}_{t}$$
(12)

Where the disappearance of the accent above denotes a multiplication with  $(\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{G})^{-1}$ . For example

$$\mathbf{A}_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} \beta_{i}^{r} & \gamma_{i}^{r} \\ \beta_{i}^{Q} & \gamma_{i}^{Q} \end{bmatrix} \equiv (\mathbf{I}_{2} - \mathbf{G})^{-1} \, \bar{\mathbf{A}}_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{\beta}_{i}^{r} + \bar{\gamma}_{0}^{r} \beta_{i}^{Q} & \bar{\gamma}_{i}^{r} + \bar{\gamma}_{0}^{r} \gamma_{i}^{Q} \\ \bar{\beta}_{i}^{Q} & \bar{\gamma}_{i}^{Q} \end{bmatrix}$$
(13)

The error term is  $v_t \sim N(0, \Xi_v)$  where  $\Xi_v = (\mathbf{I}_2 - \mathbf{G})^{-1} \Xi_{\varepsilon} (\mathbf{I}_2 - \mathbf{G})^{-1'}$ . The model as such is not identified as we cannot track the structural parameters using its reduced form (12). This identification problem arises as the reduced model is not able to identify the  $\bar{\gamma}_0^r$  parameter of the



original model without some additional restrictions on the model. However, we can calculate its value from the relation  $v_{1,t} = \varepsilon_{1,t} + \bar{\gamma}_0^r \varepsilon_{2,t}$  which implies

$$\bar{\gamma}_{0}^{r} = \frac{Cov\left(v_{1,t}, v_{2,t}\right)}{Var\left(v_{2,t}\right)} \tag{14}$$

The  $\bar{\gamma}_0^r$  parameter can be interpreted as the instantaneous impact of an incoming trade on the return residual and therefore on return itself and it must be strictly positive due to the bid-ask price. Note that this contemporaneous correlation also implies that we cannot analyze the dynamics of the system by simply isolating a shock in the order flow innovation  $\varepsilon_{2,t}$  as a shock in  $\varepsilon_{2,t}$  tells us something about  $\varepsilon_{1,t}$  and hence about the dynamics of the total system. However, Lütkepohl (1993) shows that the impulse response dynamics can still be calculated by simply multiplying both sides of equation (8) with the upper Choleski decomposition of the residuals variance-covariance matrix  $\Xi_v$ . Because or model contains AR-terms, it is useful to rewrite model (12) compactly in its final form for estimation purposes

$$\mathbf{Y}_{t} = \mathbf{A} (\mathbf{L})^{-1} [\mathbf{a} + \mathbf{B} (\mathbf{L}) \mathbf{X}_{t} + \mathbf{C} (\mathbf{L}) D_{t} Q_{t} + \mathbf{F}_{0} \ln T_{t} Q_{t} + \mathbf{v}_{t}]$$

$$= \mathbf{Z}_{t} \mathbf{\Lambda} + \mathbf{u}_{t}$$
(15)

where  $\mathbf{Z}_{t} = (\boldsymbol{\iota}_{2}, \mathbf{X}_{t}, D_{t}Q_{t}, \ln T_{t}Q_{t}), \mathbf{\Lambda} = vec[\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{1}, \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{2}, \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{3}]$  and  $\mathbf{u}_{t} = \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{L})^{-1} \mathbf{v}_{t}$  where the lag operators are defined as  $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{L}) = \mathbf{I}_{2} - \sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathbf{A}_{i} \mathbf{L}^{i}, \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{L}) = \sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathbf{B}_{i} \mathbf{L}^{i}, \mathbf{C}(\mathbf{L}) = \sum_{i=0}^{p} \mathbf{C}_{i} \mathbf{L}^{i}$  and  $(2 \times 2)$  $\mathbf{\Phi}_{1} = \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{L})^{-1} \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{L}), \mathbf{\Phi}_{2} = \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{L})^{-1} \mathbf{C}(\mathbf{L})$  and  $\mathbf{\Phi}_{3} = \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{L})^{-1} \mathbf{F}_{0}$ . The final form representation implies that  $\mathbf{Y}_{t} | \mathbf{\Lambda}_{t} \sim N\left(\mathbf{Z}_{t} \mathbf{\Lambda}_{t}, \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{L})^{-1} \mathbf{\Xi}_{v} \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{L})^{-1}\right)$  and we calculate the joint density of the endogenous variables using Maximum Likelihood. An illustration of this method is given in Hamilton (1994).

# **B** Impulse Response Functions

We now turn to the details of the calculation of the impulse responses for the local trading platform. One way of constructing the impulse response function has been suggested by Hasbrouck (1991b). By making assumptions about invertability and covariance stationary components one can represent the VAR(p) model as an MA( $\infty$ ) model. The coefficients of this MA model are then the quote revision parameters. In our case, we take as a starting point the reduced form model (12).

$$r_{t} = \alpha^{r} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \left( \beta_{i}^{r} + z_{i}^{r} \ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}} \right) r_{t-i} + \tau_{0}^{r} \ln \frac{T_{t,\tau}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}} Q_{t} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \left( \gamma_{1}^{r} + \tau_{i}^{r} \ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}} \right) Q_{t-i} + v_{1,t}$$
(16)

$$Q_{t} = \alpha^{Q} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \left( \beta_{i}^{Q} + z_{i}^{Q} \ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}} \right) r_{t-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \left( \gamma_{i}^{Q} + \tau_{i}^{Q} \ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}} \right) Q_{t-i} + v_{2,t}$$

We assume that the system at time t = 0 is in its long run equilibrium, i.e. no one is participating in trades  $(Q_{t-i} = 0, i = 1, ..., P)$  while market makers are not actively making the market  $(r_{t-i} =$  0, i = 1, ..., P). The impulse response function of a time series  $r_t$  due to an unexpected shock in  $Q_t$  is given by  $I_R$  and is analyzed at time t + n through the following expression

$$I_{r}(n,\varepsilon_{2,t}=\delta,-_{t-1}) = E[r_{t+n}|\varepsilon_{2,t}=\delta,\varepsilon_{t+1}=\ldots=\varepsilon_{t+n}=\mathbf{0},-_{t-1}]$$

$$-E[r_{t+n}|\varepsilon_{2,t}=0,\varepsilon_{t+1}=\ldots=\varepsilon_{t+n}=\mathbf{0},-_{t-1}]$$

$$(17)$$

Here the first term of (17) reflects the system when it has been hit only once by a shock  $\delta$  at time t while the second term assumes that the system stays in its long run equilibrium. Because both terms are conditioned under the same information set -  $_{t-1}$ , it analyzes the realization of a system which are identical up to time t. An important aspect pointed out by Koop et al. (1996) is the fact that the impulse response function in linear models do not depend on the history of the information set. This aspect is worth considering in our model as one can expect a different impulse response function for  $r_t$  during different trading intensity. We therefore apply two methods for calculating the impulse response function as given by system (16).

The first method is by simply substituting the average trading duration for  $T_{t-i,\tau}$  which is by definition exactly equal to  $\bar{T}_{\tau}$ . As a result, system (16) changes into a linear VAR(p) model.

$$r_{t} = \sum_{i=1}^{P} \beta_{i}^{r} r_{t-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \gamma_{i}^{r} Q_{t-i} + v_{1,t}$$

$$Q_{t} = \sum_{i=1}^{P} \beta_{i}^{Q} r_{t-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \gamma_{i}^{Q} Q_{t-i} + v_{2,t}$$
(18)

The second method that we apply in here is to compare the price impact of an unexpected buy during periods of high and low trading intensity. We analyze the system under the situation that a trade is conducted just once in a period of high and low trading intensity. To do so, we the 10-th percentile trade based on the distribution of  $\tau_{high} = [10.00 - 10.30)$  am interval and the 90-th trade based on the distribution of  $\tau_{low} = [17.00 - 17.30)$ pm interval. On average, these intervals have the highest and lowest number of trades. In other words, for every bond we select two trades with duration  $T_{t-i,\tau}^{high}$  and  $T_{t-i,\tau}^{low}$  such that

$$T_{t-i,\tau}^{high} = 10th - \text{percentile trade in interval } \tau = \tau_{high}$$

$$T_{t-i,\tau}^{low} = 90th - \text{percentile trade in interval } \tau = \tau_{low}$$
(19)

As a result, the system changes again into a VAR(p) model

$$r_{t} = \alpha^{r} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \beta_{i}^{r} r_{t-i} + \tau_{0}^{r} \pi_{0} Q_{t} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \gamma_{1}^{r} Q_{t-i} + v_{1,t}$$

$$Q_{t} = \alpha^{Q} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \beta_{i}^{Q} r_{t-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \gamma_{i}^{Q} Q_{t-i} + v_{2,t}$$

$$(20)$$

where  $\pi_0$  is either  $\ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}^{high}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}}$  or  $\ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}^{low}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}}$ .

Note that the dynamics of system (18) and (20) cannot be analyzed by simply isolating a shock in the order flow innovation  $\varepsilon_{2,t}$ . The reason for this is the contemporaneous correlation between the residuals. Hence, as a shock in  $\varepsilon_{2,t}$  tells us something about  $\varepsilon_{1,t}$  and hence about the dynamics of the total system. This is an important reason to use the MA( $\infty$ ) model as the orthogonal innovations do not obscure the actual reaction towards the system. For example, both (18) and (20) can be written as  $\mathbf{Y}_t = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_t + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{\theta}_i \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{t-i}$  where the matrix  $\boldsymbol{\theta}_n$  has the interpretation  $\partial \mathbf{Y}_{t+n} = \boldsymbol{\theta}_n \partial \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_t$ . Instead of this MA( $\infty$ ) approach, we continue to use the reduced form of system(16) and follow the approach of Lütkepohl (1994), page 51, which requires the use of a Choleski decomposition of the variance matrix.

# References

- ALBANESI, S., AND B.RINDI (2000): "The Quality of the Italian Treasury Market, Asymmetric Information and Transaction Costs," Annales d'Economie et de Statistique, 60.
- AMIHUD, Y., AND H.MENDELSON (1991): "Liquidity, Maturity, and the Yield on US Treasury Securites," *Journal of Finance*, 46, 1411–1425.
- BALDUZZI, P., E.J.ELTON, AND T.C.GREEN (2001): "Economic News and Bond Prices: Evidence from the US Treasury Market," *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 36, 523–543.
- BENSTON, G., P.J.IRVINE, AND E.KANDEL (2000): "Liquidity Beyond the Inside Spread: Measuring and Using Information in the Limit Order Book," *working paper*.
- BIAIS, B. (1993): "Price Formation and Equilibrium in Fragmented and Centralized Markets," Journal of Finance, 48, 157–185.
- CAO, H., AND R. LYONS (1999): "Inventory Information," Working Paper Haas Business School.
- COHEN, B., AND H.S.SHIN (2003): "Positive Feedback Trading under Stress: Evidence from the US Treasury Securities Market," *Working Paper London School Of Economics*.
- COHEN, K., S. MAIER, R. SCHWARTZ, AND D. WHITCOMB (1981): "Transaction Costs, Order Placements Strategy and Existence of the Bid-Ask Spread," *Journal of Political Economy*, 89, 287–305.
- COPELAND, T., AND D. GALAI (1983): "Information Effects on the Bid-Ask Spread," Journal of Finance, 38, 1457–1469.
- DIAMOND, D., AND R. VERRECCHIA (1987): "Constraints on Short Selling and Asset Price Adjustment to Private Information," *Journal of Financial Economics*, 18, 277–311.
- DUFOUR, A., AND R. ENGLE (2000): "Time and the Price Impact of a Trade," *Journal of Finance*, 55, 2467–2498.
- EASLEY, D., AND M. O'HARA (1992): "Time and the Process of Security Price Adjustment," Journal of Finance, 47, 577–605.
- ENGLE, R., AND J. RUSSEL (1995): "Forecasting Transaction Rates: The Autoregressive Conditional Duration Model," NBER Working paper, no 4966.
- EVANS, M., AND R.K.LYONS (2002): "Order Flows and Exchange Rates Dynamics," Journal of Political Economy, 110, 170–180.
- FLEMING, M. (2001): "Measuring Treasury Market Liquidity," Working Paper, Federal Reserve Bank of New York.



FLEMING, M., AND E.M.REMOLONA (1997): "What Moves the Bond Market?," Working Paper, Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

(1999): "The Term Structure of Announcement Effects," Working Paper, Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

- FLOOD, M., R.HUISMAN, K.G.KOEDIJK, AND R.J.MAHIEU (1999): "Quote Disclosure and Price Discovery in Multiple-Dealer Financial Markets," *The Review of Financial Studies*, 12, 37–59.
- FOUCAULT, T., O. KANDAN, AND E. KANDEL (2001): "Limit Order Books as a Market for Liquidity," Working Paper, CEPR no 2889.
- GARMAN, M. (1976): "Market Microstructure," Journal of Financial Economics, 3, 257–275.
- GOLDREICH, D., B.HANKE, AND P.NATH (2003): "The Price of Future Liquidity: Time-Varying Liquidity in the US Treasury Market," *CEPR Working Paper*, No: 3900.
- GREEN, T. (2004): "Economic News and the Impact of Trading on Bond Prices," Journal of Finance, 59, 1201–1233.
- HAMILTON, J. (1994): Time Series Analysis. Princeton University Press.
- HANSCH, O., N.Y.NAIK, AND S.VISWANATHAN (1998): "Do Inventories matter in Dealership Markets? Evidence from the London Stock Exchange," *Journal of Finance*, 53, 1623–1656.
- HARTMANN, P., M.MANNA, AND A.MANZANARES (2001): "The Microstructure of the Euro Money Market," *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 20, 895–948.
- HASBROUCK, J. (1991a): "Measuring the information Content of Stock Trades," Journal of Finance, 46, 179–207.
- (1991b): "The Summary Informativeness of Stock Trades, An Econometric Approach," Journal of Finance, 4, 571–595.
- HO, T., AND H. STOLL (1980): "On Dealer Markets Under Competition," *Journal of Finance*, 35, 259–267.
- KANIEL, R., AND H.LIU (2003): "So What Orders Do Informed Traders Use?," Working Paper.
- KOOP, G., M. PESARAN, AND S. POTTER (1996): "Impulse Response Function in Nonlinear Multivariate Models," *Journal of Econometrics*, 74, 119–147.
- KYLE, A. (1985): "Continuous Auction and Insider Trading," Econometrica, 53, 1315–1336.
- LUTKEPOHL, H. (1993): Introduction to Multiple Time Series Analysis. Springer Verslag.

- LYONS, R. (1997): "A Simultaneous Trade Model of the Foreign Exchange Hot Potato," *Journal of International Finance*, 42, 275–298.
- LYONS, R. (2001): "New Perspectives on FX Markets: Order Flow Analysis," Working Paper, Haas Business School.
- MADHAVAN, A. (1995): "Consolidation, Fragmentation, and the Disclosure of Trading Information," The Review of Financial Studies, 9, 579–603.
- MADHAVAN, A., AND S. SCHMIDT (2002): "An Analysis of Changes in Specialists Inventories and Quotations," *Journal of Futures Markets*, 22, 59–72.
- MANASTER, S., AND S.C. MANN (1996): "Life in the Pits: Competitive Market Making and Inventory Control," *The Review of Financial Studies*, 9, 953–975.
- MASSA, M., AND A. SIMONOV (2001a): "Experimentation in a Dealership Market," Working Paper, INSEAD and Stockholm School of Economics.

(2001b): "Reputation and Interdealer Trading. A Microstructure Analysis of the Treasury Bond Market," *Working Paper, INSEAD and Stockholm School of Economics.* 

- PARLOUR, C. (1998): "Price Dynamics in Limit Order Markets," *Review of Financial Studies*, 11, 789–816.
- PROUDMAN, J. (1995): "The Microstructure of the UK Gilt Market," Bank of England Working Paper, 38.
- REISS, P., AND I. WERNER (1998): "Does Risk Sharing Motivate Interdealer Trading?," Journal of Finance, 53, 1657–1703.
- SPIERDIJK, L. (2002): "An Emperical Analysis of the Role of Trading Intensity in Information Dissemination on the NYSE," *CENTER discussion paper*, no.30.
- UMLAUF, S. (1993): "Information Asymmetries and Securities Market Design: An Emperical Study of the Secondary Market for US Government Securities," *Journal of Finance*, 46, 929– 953.

# Tables Section

#### Table 1: Domestic government debt

 $\label{eq:medium} {\it Medium and long term government debt oustanding (billion EUR)}. \ Source: ECB: The EURO Bond Market.$ 

Country	Debt	Average maturity
Austria	81	6.2
Belgium	173	6.1
France	573	6.2
Germany	599	6.8
Italy	885	6.1
Netherlands	169	6.3
Spain	225	5.5

Table 2: Number of MTS market participants

The first column shows the total number of participants on the local market. The second column shows the number of participants that have market making obligations while the third column shows the number of market makers which are both market maker on the local and EuroMTS market.

Market	Participants	Market Makers	Market makers (both markets)
MTS Amsterdam	31	22	21
MTS Belgium	28	19	19
MTS Finland	20	18	16
MTS France	31	31	30
MTS Germany	60	39	39
MTS Ireland	10	10	10
MTS Italy	140	38	33
MTS Portugal	23	19	17
MTS Spain	24	22	22
EuroMTS	95	79	
#### Table 3: Overview cash traded bonds

Description of our dataset in terms of trades and volume. The left part of the table shows the percentage of trades conducted on the EuroMTS and on the local platform and the overall average trading size. The Italian platform also offers trading facilities for German securities. The right part shows us the percentage of total trades in the various quantity buckets. OLO, OAT, DBR and BTP bonds are long-term bonds and the central focus of our analysis. All other bonds have either a medium or short time to maturity

Market	Туре	Transactions	Volume	% EMTS (%Domestic)	ATS	%2.5mio	$\%5.0\mathrm{mio}$	%10mio	total
Germany	DBR	14683	90033	56(37)	6.1	3	75	19	97
	OBL	9703	81184	67(26)	8.4	0	46	49	95
	BKO	7128	62385	72(28)	8.8	0	39	57	96
	Total	31514	233602	. ,					1
					23.3				
Italy	BTP	518432	2851689	17 (83)	5.5	22	64	10	96
	CTZ	43698	230281	0 (100)	5.3	69	11	8	88
	CCT	139615	692323.5	0 (100)	5	66	10	9	85
	BOT	27875	126218	0 (100)	4.5	69	17	5	91
	total	729620	3900512		20.3				
France	OAT	33864	207018	41 (59)	6.1	8	66	24	98
	BTNS	29472	252045	55(45)	8.6	0	31	67	98
	total	63336	459063		14.7				
Belgium	OLO	43431	316857	22 (78)	7.3	4	50	44	98



	Class A	Class B	Class C	Class D					
		Mts Italy							
Trade size	BTP 15/07/05	BTP 01/03/07	BTP 01/08/11	BTP 01/05/31					
5	0.0199	0.0284	0.0270	0.1200					
10	0.0230	0.0300	0.0291	0.1325					
25	0.0288	0.0382	0.0350	0.1489					
	<u>Mts France</u>								
Trade size	BTAN 12/07/05	BTAN 12/07/06	OAT 25/10/11	OAT 25/10/32					
5.0	0.0270	0.0252	0.0308	0.1255					
10.0	0.0271	0.0256	0.0308	0.1373					
25.0	0.0446	0.0300	0.0351	0.1554					
		Mts Germany	7						
Trade size	OBL 135 05/05	OBL 138 08/06	DBR 04/01/12	DBR 04/01/31					
5	0.0307	0.0381	0.0330	0.1521					
10	0.0343	0.0395	0.0354	0.1680					
25	0.0393	0.0491	0.0397	0.1811					
Mts Belgium									
Trade size	OLO 34 09/05	OLO 37 09/06	OLO3609/11	OLO 3103/28					
5	0.0281	0.0299	0.0411	0.1407					
10	0.0289	0.0300	0.0412	0.1504					
25	0.0393	0.0339	0.0467	0.1657					
Euromts: Italian government bonds									
Trade size	BTP 15/07/05	BTP 01/03/07	BTP 01/08/11	BTP 01/05/31					
5	0.0225	0.0290	0.0280	0.1178					
10	0.0245	0.0307	0.0300	0.1303					
25	0.0292	0.0369	0.0363	0.1486					
Euromts: French government bonds									
Trade size	BTAN 07/05	BTAN 12/07/06	OAT 25/10/11	OAT 25/10/32					
5	0.0248	0.0248	0.0290	0.1249					
10	0.0249	0.0254	0.0298	0.1380					
25	0.0289	0.0310	0.0335	0.1576					
	Euromts	: German gover	nment bond						
Trade size	OBL 135 05/05	OLB 138 08/06	DBR 04/01/12	DBR 04/01/31					
5	0.0399	0.0380	0.0317	0.1523					
10	0.0343	0.0400	0.0339	0.1626					
25	0.0613	0.0495	0.0374	0.1784					
Euromts: Belgian government bonds									
Trade size	OLO 37 09/05	OLO 3709/06	OLO36 09/11	OLO 31 03/28					
5	0.0281	0.0299	0.0414	0.1386					
10	0.0287	0.0299	0.0416	0.1482					
25	0.0346	0.0344	0.0468	0.1648					

Table 4: Volume Weighted Quoted Spread for domestic and EuroMTS markets.Numbers shown are in percentage from midpoint of the best bid-ask price.

Table 5: Effective and realized spreads for the domestic and EuroMTS markets. Table offers a comparison of the realized spread and the average effective spread. The effective spread is defined as the absolute difference between price and previous midquote. The realized spread is the difference between the price and subsequent midquote. The T-statistics reflects the outcome of testing whether there exist a significant difference between the spreads on the domestics trading platform versus EMTS.

		Domestic	EMTS		Domestic	EMTS	
Maturity	Bond	Effective	Effective	T-stat (eff.)	Realized	Realized	T-stat (real.)
	BTP 07/05	0.018	0.018	0.128	0.000	0.005	3.544
A	OBL 05/05	0.358	0.444	0.208	0.319	0.413	0.243
	BTNS 07/05	0.032	0.019	0.753	0.012	0.002	1.601
	OLO 10/04	0.010			0.013		
	BTP 03/07	0.026	0.029	0.634	0.003	0.006	0.108
B	OBL 08/06	0.033	0.021	1.028	-0.002	0.026	2.207
	BTNS 07/06	0.032	0.022	1.088	0.016	0.000	1.674
	OLO 09/06	0.034	0.035	0.046	0.008	0.014	0.731
	BTPS 08/11	0.038	0.041	0.674	0.004	-0.002	0.378
C	DBR 01/12	0.044	0.044	0.023	-0.022	0.005	1.630
	AOT 10/11	0.046	0.049	1.025	0.006	0.010	0.296
	OLO 09/11	0.041	0.060	1.376	0.016	0.017	0.015
	BTP 05/31	0.110	0.114	0.272	0.028	0.023	0.300
D	DBR 01/31	0.143	0.138	0.104	0.021	-0.005	0.870
	OAT 10/32	0.111	0.060	1.376	0.007	0.072	1.324
	OLO 03/28	0.108	0.113	0.221	-0.065	0.094	1.083

BTP are Italian bonds, BTNS and OAT are French, OBL and DBR are German, OLO are Belgian bonds. The Belgium October 2004 (OLO 10/04) is not traded on the EMTS platform.

Table 6: Spread for absolute price changes for domestic and EMTS trading platforms. This table shows spread estimates based on absolute price changes for class A, B, C and D benchmark bonds as a percentage of the price. We test Spread EMTS = spread domestic platform using a standard t-test. The numbers in bold face reflects significance at 5% level.

Class	A	В	С	D
	Btp 15/07/05	Btp 01/03/07	Btp 01/08/11	Btp 01/05/31
Euromts	0.0335	0.0550	0.0496	0.1326
Mts Italy	0.0202	0.0338	0.0320	0.0839
T-stat	2.06	1.68	2.29	1.18
	Btan $12/07/05$	Btan $12/07/06$	Oat 25/10/11	Oat 25/10/32
Euromts	0.0434	0.1038	0.0682	0.1754
Mts France	0.0492	0.0548	0.0758	0.3564
T-stat	2.33	1.20	0.45	1.61
	Obl 135 05/05	Obl 138 08/06	Dbr $04/01/12$	Dbr $04/01/31$
Euromts	0.0378	0.0401	0.1699	0.1789
Mts Germany	0.0309	0.0376	0.0916	0.1618
T-stat	0.79	3.04	0.53	1.44
	Olo 34 09/05	Olo 37 09/06	Olo 36 $09/11$	Olo 31 03/28
Euromts	0.0597	0.0439	0.0935	0.2631
Mts Belgium	0.0498	0.0560	0.0717	0.2827
T-stat	1.26	0.78	0.76	0.05

Table 7: Dufour-Engle estimates for the BTP 2011 bond Estimation of the Engle-Dufour model using Maximum likelihood. The standard errors are corrected for heteroskedasticity using White standard errors. The  $\gamma_0$  coefficient is calculated using the correlation between the error terms. The left-hand side shows the estimation results for the return equation and the right-hand side shows the estimation result for the quantity equation.

Parameters	Coefficient	White S.E	t-stat	Coefficient	White S.E	t-stat
	return equa	tion BTP 201	1	Signed Quantity equation BTP 2011		
$\beta_1$	-0.04200	0.01697	-2.47451	0.00169	0.01528	0.11036
$\beta_2$	0.01043	0.01071	0.97390	-0.04876	0.01530	-3.18679
$\beta_3$	-0.00765	0.00822	-0.92993	-0.06047	0.01517	-3.98730
$\gamma_0$	0.105					
$\gamma_1$	0.00206	0.00232	0.89017	0.26106	0.00483	54.06128
$\gamma_2$	0.00447	0.00216	2.06620	0.06278	0.00502	12.51208
$\gamma_3$	0.00347	0.00190	1.83051	0.04636	0.00490	9.46441
$z_1$	0.00573	0.01145	0.50029	0.02331	0.01070	2.17844
$z_2$	-0.01628	0.00886	-1.83687	0.03130	0.01081	2.89564
$z_3$	0.01225	0.00726	1.68867	0.04381	0.01076	4.07265
$ au_0$	0.04616	0.00300	15.39971			
$ au_1$	-0.00599	0.00259	-2.31135	-0.04161	0.00487	-8.54999
$ au_2$	-0.00291	0.00253	-1.15059	-0.04255	0.00488	-8.72268
$\tau_3$	-0.00418	0.00223	-1.87480	-0.03278	0.00476	-6.89203
$\delta_0$	-0.02452	0.00262	-9.37369			
$\delta_1$	-0.00365	0.00248	-1.47361	0.01688	0.00869	1.94345
$\delta_2$	0.00181	0.00286	0.63456	0.02826	0.00869	3.25090
$\delta_3$	0.00480	0.00273	1.75676	0.03633	0.00869	4.18295
α	-0.00471	0.00837	-0.56235	0.08477	0.02333	3.63400

## Table 8: Wald test for duration effects

Wald test for the joint hypothesis  $\tau_0 = \tau_1 = \tau_2 = \tau_3 = 0$ . Under the nullhypothesis this variable is  $\chi_{(4)}$  distributed.

	Wald-statistic		Wald-statistic
OLO_11 OAT_11	$13.53 \\ 20.20$	OLO_12 OAT_12	5.92 $1.02$
DBR_11 BTP_11	$\begin{array}{c} 3.16\\ 242.03\end{array}$	DBR_12 BTP_12	$\begin{array}{c} 2.48 \\ 54.86 \end{array}$

# **Graphs Section**

Figure 1: Spread between the Italian 10-year benchmark bond (BTP) versus the 10year German Bund. The data of weekly observations runs from March 1991 until December 2002. *Source: Thomson Financials* 







Estimated average spread %









ECB Working Paper Series No. 432 January 2005



Figure 3: Intraday pattern of quoted spread for the BTP 2011.

Figure 4: The average effective and realized spread.



## **Impulse Response Functions**

The impulse response functions for the Italian 2011 and 2012 bonds using average trading intensity  $T_{t-i,\tau} = \overline{T}_{\tau}$  are given in figure 5 and 6. By using the average duration, system (16) changes into a linear VAR(p) model. Specifically, the impulse response of the following system is analyzed:

$$r_{t} = \alpha^{r} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \beta_{i}^{r} r_{t-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \gamma_{i}^{r} Q_{t-i} + v_{1,t}$$
$$Q_{t} = \alpha^{Q} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \beta_{i}^{Q} r_{t-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \gamma_{i}^{Q} Q_{t-i} + v_{2,t}$$

The figures also show the impulse response functions for the securities using a fixed maximum and minimum trading intensity  $T_{t-i,\tau} = \bar{T}_{\tau}$ , system (16) changes into a linear VAR(p) model. Specifically, if taking time into account, we calculate the impulse response of the following system:

$$r_{t} = \alpha^{r} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \beta_{i}^{r} r_{t-i} + \tau_{0}^{r} \pi_{0} Q_{t} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \gamma_{1}^{r} Q_{t-i} + v_{1,t}$$

$$Q_{t} = \alpha^{Q} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \beta_{i}^{Q} r_{t-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{P} \gamma_{i}^{Q} Q_{t-i} + v_{2,t}$$

where  $\pi_0$  is either  $\ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}^{high}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}}$  or  $\ln \frac{T_{t-i,\tau}^{low}}{\bar{T}_{\tau}}$ .

We calculate the response function of return given an unexpected buy trade at t = 0 of EUR five million. The lower graph shows the accumulated response of return.





ECB Working Paper Series No. 432 January 2005



Figure 7: Italian 2011 bond (No news announcements)

Figure 8: Italian 2011 bond (News announcements)



### European Central Bank working paper series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int)

- 395 "Fiscal sustainability and public debt in an endogenous growth model" by J. Fernández-Huertas Moraga and J.-P. Vidal, October 2004.
- 396 "The short-term impact of government budgets on prices: evidence from macroeconomic models" by J. Henry, P. Hernández de Cos and S. Momigliano, October 2004.
- 397 "Determinants of euro term structure of credit spreads" by A. Van Landschoot, October 2004.
- 398 "Mergers and acquisitions and bank performance in Europe: the role of strategic similarities" by Y. Altunbas and D. Marqués Ibáñez, October 2004.
- 399 "Sporadic manipulation in money markets with central bank standing facilities" by C. Ewerhart, N. Cassola, S. Ejerskov and N. Valla, October 2004.
- 400 "Cross-country differences in monetary policy transmission" by R.-P. Berben, A. Locarno, J. Morgan and J. Valles, October 2004.
- 401 "Foreign direct investment and international business cycle comovement" by W. J. Jansen and A. C. J. Stokman, October 2004.
- 402 "Forecasting euro area inflation using dynamic factor measures of underlying inflation" by G. Camba-Méndez and G. Kapetanios, November 2004.
- 403 "Financial market integration and loan competition: when is entry deregulation socially beneficial?" by L. Kaas, November 2004.
- 404 "An analysis of systemic risk in alternative securities settlement architectures" by G. Iori, November 2004.
- 405 "A joint econometric model of macroeconomic and term structure dynamics" by P. Hördahl,O. Tristani and D. Vestin, November 2004.
- 406 "Labour market reform and the sustainability of exchange rate pegs" by O. Castrén, T. Takalo and G. Wood, November 2004.
- 407 "Banking consolidation and small business lending" by E. Takáts, November 2004.
- 408 "The great inflation, limited asset markets participation and aggregate demand: FED policy was better than you think" by F. O. Bilbiie, November 2004.
- 409 "Currency mismatch, uncertainty and debt maturity structure" by M. Bussière, M. Fratzscher and W. Koeniger, November 2004.
- 410 "Do options-implied RND functions on G3 currencies move around the times of interventions on the JPY/USD exchange rate? by O. Castrén, November 2004.
- 411 "Fiscal discipline and the cost of public debt service: some estimates for OECD countries" by S. Ardagna, F. Caselli and T. Lane, November 2004.

- 412 "The real effects of money growth in dynamic general equilibrium" by L. Graham and D. J. Snower, November 2004.
- 413 "An empirical analysis of price setting behaviour in the Netherlands in the period 1998-2003 using micro data" by N. Jonker, C. Folkertsma and H. Blijenberg, November 2004.
- 414 "Inflation persistence in the European Union, the euro area, and the United States" by G. Gadzinski and F. Orlandi, November 2004.
- 415 "How persistent is disaggregate inflation? An analysis across EU15 countries and HICP sub-indices" by P. Lünnemann and T. Y. Mathä, November 2004.
- 416 "Price setting behaviour in Spain: stylised facts using consumer price micro data" by L. J. Álvarez and I. Hernando, November 2004.
- 417 "Staggered price contracts and inflation persistence: some general results" by K. Whelan, November 2004.
- 418 "Identifying the influences of nominal and real rigidities in aggregate price-setting behavior" by G. Coenen and A. T. Levin, November 2004.
- 419 "The design of fiscal rules and forms of governance in European Union countries" by M. Hallerberg, R. Strauch and J. von Hagen, December 2004.
- 420 "On prosperity and posterity: the need for fiscal discipline in a monetary union" by C. Detken,V. Gaspar and B. Winkler, December 2004.
- 421 "EU fiscal rules: issues and lessons from political economy" by L. Schuknecht, December 2004.
- 422 "What determines fiscal balances? An empirical investigation in determinants of changes in OECD budget balances" by M. Tujula and G. Wolswijk, December 2004.
- 423 "Price setting in France: new evidence from survey data" by C. Loupias and R. Ricart, December 2004.
- 424 "An empirical study of liquidity and information effects of order flow on exchange rates" by F. Breedon and P. Vitale, December 2004.
- 425 "Geographic versus industry diversification: constraints matter" by P. Ehling and S. B. Ramos, January 2005.
- 426 "Security fungibility and the cost of capital: evidence from global bonds" by D. P. Miller and J. J. Puthenpurackal, January 2005.
- 427 "Interlinking securities settlement systems: a strategic commitment?" by K. Kauko, January 2005.
- 428 "Who benefits from IPO underpricing? Evidence form hybrid bookbuilding offerings" by V. Pons-Sanz, January 2005.
- 429 "Cross-border diversification in bank asset portfolios" by C. M. Buch, J. C. Driscoll and C. Ostergaard, January 2005.
- 430 "Public policy and the creation of active venture capital markets" by M. Da Rin,G. Nicodano and A. Sembenelli, January 2005.

- 431 "Regulation of multinational banks: a theoretical inquiry" by G. Calzolari and G. Loranth, January 2005.
- 432 "Trading European sovereign bonds: the microstructure of the MTS trading platforms" by Y. C. Cheung, F. de Jong and B. Rindi, January 2005.

